IOWA STATE UNIVERSITY Digital Repository

Graduate Theses and Dissertations

Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations

2010

Improving feed quality by proper processing of raw materials

Stephen Setiawan Iowa State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/etd Part of the <u>Nutrition Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Setiawan, Stephen, "Improving feed quality by proper processing of raw materials" (2010). *Graduate Theses and Dissertations*. 11444. https://lib.dr.iastate.edu/etd/11444

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Iowa State University Capstones, Theses and Dissertations at Iowa State University Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Graduate Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Iowa State University Digital Repository. For more information, please contact digirep@iastate.edu.



Improving feed quality by proper processing of raw materials

by

Stephen Setiawan

A thesis submitted to the graduate faculty in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Major: Food Science and Technology

Program of Study Committee: Jay-lin Jane, Major Professor Lawrence Johnson Michael Spurlock Michael Blanco

> Iowa State University Ames, Iowa 2010



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	iv
GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
DISSERTATION ORGANIZATION	3
CHAPTER 1. LITERATURE REVIEW	4
Starch Structures	4
Starch Functional Properties	7
Cassava starch	12
Starch interactions with other chemical compounds	12
Modifications of starch	14
Distiller Dried Grain with Solubles (DDGS)	16
Soybean Meal	17
Effect of storage on chemical and functional properties of crops	18
Literature Cited	18
Figures	35
CHAPTER 2. EFFECTS OF GRAIN DRYING TEMPERATURE ON STARCH	
FUNCTIONAL PROPERTIES OF CORN KERNELS	41
Abstract	41
Introduction	41
Materials and Methods	42
Results and Discussion	45
Conclusion	47
Literature Cited	48
Figures and Tables	51
CHAPTER 3. CHANGES IN STARCH STRUCTURES AND FUNCTIONS AFT	ſER
STORAGE OF DRIED CORN KERNELS AT AN ELEVATED HUMIDITY	56
Abstract	56



www.manaraa.com

Introduction	57
Materials and Methods	58
Results and Discussion	63
Conclusion	69
Literature Cited	70
Figures and Tables	74
CHAPTER 4. METHODS TO IMPROVE NUTRITIONAL VALUES OF CASSA	AVA
FLOUR FOR ANIMAL FEED	89
Abstract	89
Introduction	90
Materials and Methods	91
Results and Discussion	97
Conclusion	103
Literature Cited	104
Figures and Tables	109
GENERAL CONCLUSION	126
APPENDIX- ENZYME HYDROLYSIS PATTERN OF FOUR α -AMYLASE	128
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	140



ABSTRACT

Objectives of my research were 1) to understand effects of drying temperature and storage of corn kernels at an elevated humidity on starch structure and functions, and 2) to develop a method to produce cassava-based feed that resembles a commercially available corn-based feed product. Corn kernels with 32.5% moisture (db) dried at higher temperatures (80°C or 120/80°C) had higher starch digestibility than that dried at a low temperature (37°C). Starch isolated from the corn kernels dried at the higher temperatures had higher gelatinization temperature and lower gelatinization enthalpy-changes than that from corn kernels dried at the lower temperature because of partial starch gelatinization. The partially-gelatinized starch exhibited loss of Maltese-cross of the starch granules when viewed under a polarized-light microscope. The starch digestibilities of the dried-corn samples decreased after storage at 37°C and 93% relative humidity (RH) for 3 and 6 days.

Effects of storing dried corn kernels at 27°C and 85-90% (RH), resembling a tropical climate, for up to 6 months on starch structure and functions were investigated. Freshly-harvested corn samples (B816, 27.8% moisture, db) were sun-dried (SD) at 35°C or machine dried (MD) at 80°C. Storage of the dried corn kernels decreased starch digestibilities and peak viscosities of the ground corn samples. The rate of enzymatic hydrolysis of starch isolated from the sun-dried corn increased with storage, whereas that from machine-dried corn decreased with storage. Peak viscosity and gelatinization enthalpy-changes of starches isolated from both sun-dried and machine-dried corn decreased but the gelatinization temperature, pasting temperature, and percentage crystallinity of the starches increased after storing the corn. Numbers of damaged starch granules and starch granules with pinholes



iv

increased and the molecular weights of starch and long branch-chains of amylopectin decreased with storage time of corn. The starch isolated from sun-dried corn (35°C, SD) after storage suffered greater levels of endogenous and/or microbial enzymatic hydrolysis than that from machine-dried counterpart (80°C, MD) after the same period of storage.

Cassava-based feed with slower starch digestive rate, resembling corn-based feed and improved nutritional values, was produced by blending cassava flour (CA) with other ingredients, including dietary oils (palm oil, soybean oil, and corn oil), Distiller's Dry Grains with Soluble (DDGS), or defatted-soybean meal (SBM), followed by a heat-moisture treatment (HMT). Blending dietary oils (6%, v/w) or DDGS (10%, 20%, 30%, w/w) with cassava flour followed by HMT at 100°C for 1h substantially reduced the starch digestion rate of the processed cassava flour. Dietary oils with larger proportions of unsaturated fatty acids had greater impacts on reducing the starch digestive rate of cassava flour. HMT conditions, such as heating temperature and initial moisture content of the blends, were evaluated. Cassava flour-DDGS blends had a lower starch digestive rate than cassava flour-SBM blends at equivalent protein levels.



GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Starch is an energy-reserve in plants and is stored in various plant organelles, such as roots, tubers, leaves, seeds, and fruits. Starch is mainly composed of two polysaccharides, amylopectin and amylose. Amylopectin is highly branched molecules, in which 95% of glucose monomers are linked by α -(1 \rightarrow 4) linkages and 5% are linked by α -(1 \rightarrow 6) linkages. Amylose is essentially linear molecules with few branches. Lipids and proteins are present in the starch granules in small amounts. Starch is developed in the amyloplast of plants in the form of semi-crystalline granules. Starch properties play an important role in the quality of many food and non-food products containing starch. The properties of native starches, however, may not achieve the specific functionalities needed for commercial applications. To overcome these limitations, chemical and physical modifications have been utilized to modify and improve the properties of starches. In my thesis research, I focused on understanding and modifying starch functional properties that affect the quality of animal feed.

After harvesting, shelled corn kernels are commonly dried before being processed into an animal feed. Thus, drying conditions, such as drying temperature and initial moisture content of the corn kernels, impact the processability of the dried corn and the nutritional quality of feed. In the present, freshly-harvested corn kernels were dried at three different temperatures and the changes in their starch functional properties were observed. Crops produced during the harvesting season are not used immediately. Thus, the dried corn kernels need appropriate storing before being further processed to make feed products. The effects of storage of dried corn-kernels on their starch properties, however, are not well understood. I



www.manaraa.com

analyzed structures and properties of dried corn-kernels after being stored in a tropical climate storage condition and observed the changes in their starch structures and functions during 6 months of storage.

Cassava root is an excellent source of starch for food and is widely used in some countries as their main staple food. Cassava starch is relatively easy to isolate from the root because the root contains very low levels of lipids and protein. Cassava starch, however, is known to have a substantially higher starch digestive rate than corn starch. The difference in starch digestive rate between cassava starch and corn starch hinders uses of cassava to replace commonly used corn in animal feed. It is important to develop a new and simple method to improve the nutritional value of cassava flour. The objectives of my thesis research were to 1) understand effects of drying-temperature and storage of corn kernels at an elevated humidity on starch structures and functions and 2) develop a novel method to produce cassava-based feed that resembles a commonly used corn-based feed product.



DISSERTATION ORGANIZATION

First chapter of this dissertation is a review of literatures on the background knowledge relating to the research topics. Second to Forth chapters of this dissertation are organized with the format of research papers: Chapter 2 "Effects of Grain Drying Temperature on Starch Functional Properties of Corn Kernels", Chapter 3 "Changes in Starch Structures and Functions after Storage of Dried Corn-kernels at Elevated Humidity", and Chapter 4 "Methods to Improve Nutritional Values of Cassava Flour for Animal Feed". These four chapters are preceded by a General Introduction and followed by a General Conclusion. A preliminary study on "Enzyme Hydrolysis Pattern of Four α -amylases" is added in the appendix.



CHAPTER 1. LITERATURE REVIEW

Starch Structures

Amylose Structure

Amylose is essentially a linear polysaccharide of D-glucose units linked by α -1 \rightarrow 4 linkages with a few branches linked by α -1 \rightarrow 6 linkages (1, 2). Amylose was initially believed to be a linear molecule because it carried only one reducing and one nonreducing terminal residue (3). Amylose was first believed to carry few branches by Kerr and Cleveland (4) because they found few nonreducing terminals per molecules of amylose. This proposed structure of amylose was later supported by findings of $K_j \neq 0$ being and Manners (5), Takeda et al (6), and Curá et al (7), which showed that the linkages preventing complete β amylase degradation of amylose are α -1 \rightarrow 6 glycosidic linkages. Amylose of normal corn starch carries one α -1 \rightarrow 6 glycosidic branch for every 300 D-glucose residues (8). The molecular weight of amylose ranges from a degree of polymerization (DP) of 900 for corn starch to 2100 for potato starch (9, 10). The amylose content of normal starch is typically about 15-30%. The amylose content of starch varies with the species and mutants. Amylose is synthesized alongside amylopectin by granular-bound starch synthase (GBSS) (11). Waxy maize starch, a mutant lacking expression of GBSS activity, contains negligible amylose content (<1%) comparing with a normal maize starch (20-30%). Amylose is more concentrated at the periphery (surface) of the starch granules (12). Amylose forms a single helical structure when it is in the form of an inclusion complex with organic compounds, such as dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), n-butanol, and n-pentanol (13, 14). The number of glucose units per helical turn depends on the size of the complexing compound (15). The



ability of amylose to form complex and crystallize has been used to fractionate amylose from amylopectin and to modify the properties of starch (16-21). Amylose forms single helical complexes with iodine to give blue color, which is conveniently used to determine amylose content of starch (22). The amylose-iodine complex gives dark blue color, and the color intensity is related to the chain-length of amylose (23). Determinating amylose content based on iodine affinity of the whole starch (apparent amylose) inflates the real amylose content, because it includes the contribution of amylopectin or intermediate components of starch. After starch gelatinization, amylose readily retrogrades in solution. The retrogradation rate of amylose in solution depends on the chain length of amylose, pH of solution, solution temperature, and storage time (24-27).

Amylopectin Structure

Amylopectin is a branched polysaccharide of D-glucose units linked by α -1 \rightarrow 4 and contains approximately 5% branches linked by α -1 \rightarrow 6 linkages. The cluster model of amylopectin was proposed by French (28) and further defined with chain classification by Hizukuri (29) (**Figure 1**). The average branch-chain length of amylopectin varies among plant species and is related to starch functional properties, such as gelatinization temperature, paste viscosity, and turbidity of starch solution (30-34). Amylopectin with shorter average branch-chain length is found in A-type polymorphic starches, whereas amylopectin with longer average branch-chain length is found in B-type polymorphic starches (35, 36). In Atype starch, the average amylopectin branch-chain length at the periphery of a granule is shorter than those found at the inner part of the granule. In the proposed model, amylopectin consist of three types of chains, namely A-, B-, and C-chains. A-chains, which are mostly external chains, are connected to B- and C-chains at their reducing ends by α -1 \rightarrow 6 branch



linkages and carry no other branch chains. B-chains are connected to other B- or C-chains and carry A-chains or other B-chains. The C-chain is the only chain in amylopectin that carries a reducing end group (29, 37-39). After acid hydrolysis of starch, the remaining residues (Naegeli dextrins) are used to understand crystalline structures of the starch. Structures of Naegeli dextrins show that A-type starches have greater numbers of branch linkages that were preserved in the Naegeli dextrins than B-type starches. These results suggest a model that the A-type starch contains amylopectin with branch linkages scattered in both the amorphous and crystalline regions, whereas the B-type starch contains amylopectin with branch linkages present only in the amorphous regions (35)

Organization of Starch Granules

Starch is synthesized in the form of semi-crystalline granules in plants. Shapes and sizes of starch granules vary with species, mutants, maturity and growth conditions of the plant. For example, normal maize starch has spherical and polygonal granules whereas high-amylose maize mutant has a mixture of spherical and elongated granules (40). Wheat starch has a mixture of large disc-shaped (A) and small spherical granules (B). Starch granules display a birefringence pattern (Maltese-cross) when viewed under a polarized-light microscope (**Figure 2**), reflecting an ordered structure within the granule. The organic center of the Maltese-cross is the initial nucleus of the starch granule known as the hilum (41). Amylose and amylopectin molecules are aligned perpendicularly to the surface and grow in radial arrangements from the hilum to the surface of the starch granule (28, 42-43). Amylopectin molecules have clustered structures consisting of both amorphous and crystalline regions. Amylose intertwines with amylopectin molecules. The native starch double helices are stabilized by hydrogen bonds and hydrophobic interactions (44). The



native semi-crystalline structures of the starch granule are classified into A-, B-, and C-type polymorphs. A-type starches have double helices that are packed into a monoclinic lattice, whereas B-type starches have double helices that are packed in hexagonal arrangement (**Figure 3**) (45). C-type starches, such as cassava starch, have a mixture of A- and B-type unit cells. X-ray diffraction is a commonly used method to determine the crystalline packing and the degree of crystallinity in the starch granules (45, 46). The interaction between amylose and amylopectin molecules in the native starch granule preserves the integrity of the granule (47, 48).

Starch Functional Properties

Starch gelatinization and retrogradation

In its native semi-crystalline structure, the starch granule is insoluble in water at ambient temperature. In the presence of excess water, starch granules absorb water and swell to a limited extent. Increasing the temperature of the starch suspension above the gelatinization temperature of the starch causes the starch granule to irreversibly lose its crystalline structure and molecular order (*49*). This process is known as *gelatinization*. During gelatinization, starch molecules absorb energy (endothermic) to dissociate the native double helices into an amorphous confirmation (*50*). Under a polarized-light microscope, the birefringence of starch granules (Maltese-cross) disappears after gelatinization. The gelatinization of starch occurs over a temperature range (onset to conclusion) that differs for each starch variety, for example: normal maize, 64.4 to 80.4°C; waxy maize, 64.2 to 80.4°C; and normal potato, 59 to 68°C (*35*). The amount of water present to plasticize the starch molecule affects the gelatinization temperature. Other factors that affect the gelatinization temperature of starch



are amylopectin branch-chain length and the content of phosphate-monoester derivatives of the starch. Starch with a larger proportion of short branch-chains (DP 6-12) has a lower gelatinization temperature than that with more long branch-chains (11). Studies with starches isolated from various botanical sources have shown that gelatinization temperature is negatively correlated with the proportion of short branch chains (DP 6-12) (34) and positively correlated with that of intermediate branch-chains (DP 13-24) (51). Phosphatemonoester derivatives bound to starch molecules reduces gelatinization temperature. Charge repulsion forces between the phosphate derivatives enhance swelling of starch granules, aiding starch gelatinization (34). Gelatinization of the starch granule can be achieved nonthermally using dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), CaCl₂, LiCl, and alkali solution. DMSO is capable of dissociating the starch native double helices by forming hydrogen bonds (DMSO as an acceptor) with hydroxyl groups of starch molecules. $CaCl_2(12)$ and LiCl (47) solutions can interact with starch and have exothermic reactions. The heat released will dissociate the native double helices of starch. Alkali, such as NaOH and KOH, can dissociate the proton of hydroxyl group of the anhydroglucose, giving negative charges to starch that repel and disrupt native double helices (52).

Gelatinized starch molecules tend to recrystallize and form double helical structures upon cooling and storage. This process is known as *retrogradation* and is commonly associated with changes in the qualities of starch products, such as bread staling and hardening of rice cakes. Retrogradation of starch molecules involves three consecutive steps: nucleation (initiation), propagation (growth), and maturation (perfection) of the starch crystallites (*53*), and these steps are affected by the storage temperature, moisture content, and starch structures. The nuclei of the starch crystallites develop more rapidly at a lower storage



temperature (close to the glass transition temperature), whereas propagation of the starch crystallites is greater at high storage temperature (close to the melting temperature). Amylose retrogrades faster than amylopectin because amylose is linear and has more molecular mobility to realign and to reassociate. Amylopectin with a larger proportion of short branch-chains retrogrades to lesser extents (*35*). Lipids in starch complex with amylose molecules and retard retrogradation (*53*). Phosphate-monoester in the starch molecules, such as that found in most tuber and root starches, prevent starch molecules from realigning and retrograding because of charge repulsion.

Pasting Properties

Starch pasting properties are normally determined by measuring viscosity during a programmed heating-cooling under constant stirring. Heating starch granules in excess water swells the granules and increases viscosity. Swollen starch granules are fragile and easily disrupted when shear force is applied, resulting in decreased viscosity. On cooling, the starch molecules reassociate, form a gel, and increase the viscosity. A typical starch pasting profile and pasting parameters are illustrated in **Figure 4**. The pasting parameters that are commonly reported are peak viscosity (PV), pasting temperature (PT), trough viscosity, breakdown viscosity (BD), setback viscosity (SB), and final viscosity (FV). Starches with lower amylose (*54*). Starches with longer amylopectin branch-chain length have higher peak viscosity (*55*). Waxy cereal starches typically have higher peak viscosity than their normal starch counterpart (*35*). Most of the tuber and root starches tend to produce high viscosity pastes that break rapidly under a moderate shearing. The maturity of starch affects its pasting



properties. Starch isolated from immature corn has higher peak viscosity and lower pasting temperature than those of mature corn (56).

Starch digestibility

In the human digestive system, starch is hydrolyzed by consecutive enzymes to produce glucose for absorption. Pancreatic α -amylase, which is secreted by the pancreas, is an endoacting enzyme that hydrolyzes α -1 \rightarrow 4 linkages of starch molecules and produces smaller oligosaccharides and limit-dextrins. These small oligosaccharides and limit-dextrins are then further hydrolyzed by amyloglucosidase (glucoamylase), a brush border enzyme, to produce glucose before entering the small intestine where absorption occurs. Some starches that resist enzymatic digestion are transported to the large intestine and are later fermented into short-chain fatty acids. This type of starch is commonly known as resistant starch (RS) which can be further classified into five different categories (*57*). RS1 is physically inaccessible starch, such as that found in legumes or partly milled grain. RS2 is mainly B-type polymorphic starch that is resistant to enzymatic hydrolysis in its native granular form, such as that found in uncooked potato and high-amylose maize mutant (*40*). RS3 is retrograded starch which is formed upon cooling of gelatinized starch. RS4 is chemically modified starch. RS5 is a starch of amylose-lipid complex.

Amylase attacks the starch granule by adsorption of the amylase onto starch granules followed by exo-corrosion on the surface of the granule. Once the enzyme penetrates the granule, successive endo-corrosion occurs (**Figure 5**). The rate and hydrolysis pattern of each amylase hydrolysis vary with the source of the enzyme (species specific) (*58-60*). Svensson (*61*) suggests that hydrolysis of starch granules depends on the enzyme adsorption rate to the starch granule surface.



In native starch granules, starch digestibility depends on many factors, including granule size, polymorphic form, amylose content, and lipid. Native starch granule of larger size has lower starch digestibility comparing with that of smaller size starch (62). A starch granule of larger size has less surface area to volume for enzyme to adsorb to the granule. A-type starches more starch digestible than B-type starches (63). The large proportion of shortchains in the amylopectin of A-type starches makes them vulnerable to enzyme hydrolysis. B-type starches, on the other hand, contain large proportions of long branch-chains extending through multiple clusters, which prohibit rearrangements of starch molecules in the granule and maintain the integrity against enzymatic hydrolysis. A-type starches have more porous structure (approximately 0.1 µm in diameter), which increase enzyme accessibility to starch molecules (64). Confocal laser-scattering micrographs (CLSM) of A-type starches show greater numbers of open space (void-zone) in their internal structures than B-type starches (48, 65). Amylose content of starch is negatively correlated with enzyme digestibility (47, 48, 66, 67). Starches with higher amylose contents, such as Hylon-5 maize starch (50% amylose) and Hylon-7 maize starch (70% amylose), have high resistant starch content. Waxy maize starch (<1% amylose), on the other hand, has greater enzyme digestibility than their normal starch counterparts. Lipid reduces the starch digestibility by 1) forming inclusion complex with amylose or long-chains of amylopectin (68) or 2) reducing the adsorption site for the enzyme (69). The starch digestive rate has impacts on human health upon consumption of products containing starch. On the basis of the starch digestive rate, starch is classified into rapidly-digestible starch (RDS) or slowly-digestible starch (SDS) (70).



Cassava Starch

Cassava root is one important food source in tropical countries, such as Thailand, Vietnam, Indonesia, and Brazil. Cassava starch has been commonly used in both food and non-food applications. Cassava starch has low lipids and protein contents, ranging from 0.097 to 0.43% (db) and 0.009 to 0.013% (db), respectively (71-74). The amylose content of cassava starch varies from 13.6 to 23.8% (75) or 17.9 to 23.6% (72). Cassava starch is a mixture of truncated, bell-shaped, and spherical granules (**Figure 6**) (71, 74) with sizes ranging from 4 to 43µm for Brazilian cultivars (74) and 8 to 22µm for Thailand cultivars (73). Cassava starch has a C_a-type X-ray diffraction pattern with ~38% crystallinity (46). Cassava starch has a wide variety of onset gelatinization temperature, ranging from 50.7 to 57.7°C (76), 62.4 to 65.8°C (77), 53.9 to 62.1°C (72), and 65.0 to 69.0°C (78). Cassava starch is commonly known to have significantly greater starch digestibility than corn or sorghum starches (79). The main concern of using cassava product for human consumption is the presence of two cyanogenic glucosides (linamarin and lotaustralin), which accumulated in the root during plant growth (*80*, *81*).

Starch Interactions with Other Compounds

In food products, starch is often present together with lipids and proteins. Thus, any interactions between starch and these compounds during processing impact the quality of the products. The most common interaction between starch and lipids is the formation of amylose-lipid complex. Amylose forms a single helix around the hydrocarbon chain of lipids, such as fatty acids, diglycerides, monoglycerides, and phospholipids. The fatty acid chain occupies the cavity of the single helix through hydrophobic interaction with (*82*). Amylose-



lipid complexes display a V-type pattern when analyzed with an X-ray diffractrometer (*83*). The functional properties of the amylose-lipid complex are affected by the structure of the lipid. The stability of amylose-lipid complex increases with chain length of saturated lipid (*84*), because long-chain fatty acids form stronger hydrophobic interaction with amylose than do short-chain fatty acids. Lipids with greater degrees of unsaturation form less stable amylose-lipid complex (*85*). Godet et al (*86*) found that the amount of insoluble complexes increases with increasing chain-length of amylose. The amylose-lipid complex exists in two different structures: Type I is an amorphous amylose-lipid complex that has low melting temperature (<100°C) (*84*). Amylose-lipid complex is resistant to enzymatic hydrolysis. Hasjim et al (*87*) proposed a method to produce starch with high enzyme-hydrolysis resistance (up to 75%) by complexing debranched high-amylose maize starch (HA7) with fatty acids.

Interaction between starch and protein is often found in wheat doughs. Starch granules appear to adhere to the protein matrix, which rapidly forms upon hydration of flour. The earlier findings by Sandstedt et al (88) show that water concentration in the dough affects the interaction (adhesion) between starch and protein. At low water concentration, it appears to have a strong interaction between protein and starch, whereas at excess water content, the starch can easily be removed from the protein matrix. Starch-protein interactions increase during dough mixing but decreases upon over mixing (89). Pomeranz et al (90) report that swollen starch granules in wheat flour, mainly large granules, interact strongly with protein matrix than do small starch granules. Increasing pH of the dough weakens the starch-protein interaction (91).



Starch granules in pasta dough are embedded in protein matrices, which are attributed to the greater protein content of durum wheat than that of other wheat species. The protein matrix prevents the diffusion of water into the starch granule of the pasta (92) and retards the starch gelatinization during boiling (93, 94).

Modifications of Starch

Native starches have been modified chemically or physically to produce a product with desired functional properties. The following section will review current and common methods used to modify starch.

Chemical modifications of starch

Chemically-modified starches commonly found in the industry include acid-thinned starch, cross-linked starch, oxidized starch, and derivatized starches. Acid-thinned starch is produced by limited acid hydrolysis of starch. Acid-thinned starch is commonly used in paper coatings and candy manufacture. Acid-thinned starch has lower peak viscosity but higher setback viscosity than the native starch counterpart. Cross-linking of starch is probably the most important chemical modification of starch. Starch is modified by replacing the native hydrogen bonding between starch chains with stronger and more rigid covalent bonds. Starch with an appropriate degree of cross-linking has significantly lower peak viscosity and greater heat and shear stabilities than native untreated starch (*95, 96*). Oxidized starch is produced by oxidizing the hydroxyl groups of starch into bulky carboxyl or carbonyl groups. The oxidizing agents used in this process are hydrogen peroxide or peracetic acid (*97*). Similar to acid-thinned starch, oxidized starch has a lower peak viscosity than the native starch, however, has low setback viscosity because of the



steric hindrance of the bulky group in the starch chains, negative charge repulsion, and smaller molecular weight. Oxidized starch is commonly used in the paper-making industry (98). Derivatized starches are produced by substituting bulky groups into the starch to prevent retrogradation. The common derivatized starches are phosphorylated starches, acetylated starches, hydroxypropylated starches, and succinylated starches. Derivatized starch is commonly used as thickener in frozen food products because it has good freezethaw stability (99).

Physical modifications of starch

Annealing and heat-moisture treatment (HMT) are hydrothermal methods used to physically modify starch properties. Annealing modifies starch properties by incubating starch with excess moisture (>40% w/w) at temperatures above the glass transition temperature (Tg) but below the gelatinization temperature (To) (*100-102*). Annealing improves starch granule stability and induces perfection of starch crystallites. Annealing also increases gelatinization temperature and decreases granular swelling and amylose leaching of starch (*103*, *104*). Jacobs et al (*105*, *106*) show that annealing decreases the rate of enzymatic hydrolysis of the starch at the early stage of hydrolysis but increases the extent of starch hydrolysis at the later stage of hydrolysis. Annealed starch interacts stronger with added palmitic acid and forms more inclusion complexes than native starch counterparts (*107*). Heat-moisture treatment (HMT) modifies starch properties by incubating starch with low moisture content (<35% w/w) for a certain period (15 min to 16 h) at high temperature (84-120°C) (*108*). HMT increases the gelatinization temperature of starch and decreases starch swelling, amylose leaching, and rate of enzymatic hydrolysis of starch. HMT also alters the



X-ray diffraction pattern of starch from B-type pattern into a mixture of A-type and B-type pattern depending on the botanical source of the starch (*109-111*).

Distillers Dried Grains with Solubles (DDGS)

DDGS is a co-product obtained from the production of corn ethanol. In recent years, interests in ethanol as a biorenewable fuel have led to great increases in DDGS production. The production rate has grown by nearly 20-25% per year since 2000. In 2005, approximately 8.5 million metric tons of DDGS was produced (112). DDGS produced by conventional dry-grind method of ethanol production usually contains 28-30% crude protein, 10-13% crude fat, 4-6% ash, and 11-16% acid-detergent fiber (db) (113-115). New corn fractionation methods to produce DDGS with an improved chemical composition have been proposed, such as Quick Germ (QG), Quick Germ Quick Fiber (QGQF), and Enzymatic Milling (E-Mill) (117, 118). QG and QGQF methods remove the germ and pericarp fiber as co-products at the beginning of the dry-grind corn process. E-Mill, recovers the germ, pericarp fiber, and endosperm fiber as valuable co-products. These new methods produce DDGS with significantly higher content of crude protein (36%-59%, db), but reduces all components (119). Traditionally, DDGS has been used to fortify ruminant feed because it contains high nutritional value (120, 121). In recent years, DDGS has been incorporated into both poultry feed and marine-animal feed. Incorporation of DDGS into poultry feed increases the yellow-color density of egg yolk with no changes in feed intake and growth rate of the chickens (122, 123). DDGS with darker brown color has shown lower amino acid availability and digestibility than that with lighter color. Decreased amino acid availability and



digestibility likely resulted from the Maillard browning reaction that occurs during ethanol production (*124*).

Soybean Meal

Soybean meal (SBM) is an extensively used ingredient for poultry diets and is the largest source of protein in the poultry feed. Soybeans are commonly dehulled and defatted (by solvent extraction). The main reason for the popularity of SBM in the poultry diets is the unique composition of amino acids that complement the amino acid compositions in many cereal grains. SBM is an excellent source of lysine and tryptophan but is deficient in methionine and cysteine required by poultry (125). The concentration of metabolizable energy (ME) in SBM is 11-25% greater than that of other oilseed meals (126), which is attributed to the lower fiber concentration. In the early days, SBM was known to have higher protein quality than other soy product, such as soy protein isolate (SPI, 90% protein), because SBM had higher concentrations of total and digestible methionine, cysteine, and threonine (127). Recent findings, however, showed that the apparent digestibilities of amino acids in SPI fed to chicks are greater than that in SBM (128). Full-fat soybean meal is also used for poultry diets, especially for broilers and turkeys. Diets containing high levels of fullfat soybean meal must be pelleted to improve diet density and better release the nutrients (129). Chickens fed diets containing dehulled-SBM show better growth performance than chicken fed diets containing SBM with hulls (130).



Effect of storage on chemical and functional properties of crops

Storage of crops has impacts on the properties of starch, lipids, protein, and the structural interactions among them (*131-135*). Storage of cassava roots (*136*) and rice kernels (*137*) at 21-30°C for several months decrease starch yield. Patindol et al (137) reported decreased contents of amylose and long branch-chain of amylopectin of the isolated starch after storing rough rice at high temperature (38°C) for nine months. Changes in starch structures during storage likely attributed to enzymatic hydrolysis of starch. Storage of crops increases lipid oxidation and free fatty acid contents of the grain (*138, 139*). Lipids oxidation is minimal in intact grain, but more pronounced in milled flour when the native structures are destroyed (*140*). Chrastil (*141*) reported that storage of rice kernels at 40°C for 12 months increased the molecular weight of oryzenin resulting from disulfide bond formations. Storage of cereal grain changes the activity of endogenous enzymes of the grain, such as amylase, peroxidase, and phospolipase-C (*142*). Zhou et al (*143*) reported a decrease in paste peak viscosity of milled rice flour after storage at 37°C for 16 months.

LITERATURE CITED

- Banks, W., and Greenwood, C.T. (1975). Starch and its components. University Press, Edinburg, UK.
- Robyt, J.F. (1998). Polysaccharides I. Structure and function. Pages 157-227 in J.F Robyt ed. Essentials of Carbohydrate Chemistry. Springer, New York.
- Meyer, K.H.,Brentano, W. and Bernfeld, P. (1940). Reserches surl'amidon. II. Sur la nonhomogeneite de l'amidon. Helv. Chim. Aca 23:854-853.



- Kerr, R.W. and Cleveland, F.C. (1952). The structures of amylases. *Journal of American Chemical Society* 74: 4036-4039.
- Kjolberg, O and Manners, D J. (1963). Studies on carbohydrate metabolizing enzymes. 9.
 The action of isoamylase on amylose. *Biochemistry Journal* 86: 258-265.
- Takeda, Y. and Hizukuri, S. and Juliano, B.O. (1986). Purification and structure of amylose from rice starch. *Carbohydrate Research* 148: 299-308.
- Cura, J.A. Jansson, P.E. and Krisman, C.R. (1995), Amylose is not strictly linear. *Starch/Staerke* 47 207-209.
- Misaki, A. and Smith, F. (1967). Methylation studies on amylose polyalcohol. *Carbohydrate Research* 4: 109-114.
- Takeda, Y., Shitaozono, T. and Hizukuri, S. (1988). Molecular structure of corn starch. *Starch/Staerke* 40: 51-54.
- 10. Suzuki, A., Kaneyama, M., Abe, J., and Hizukuri, S. (1987). Relationship between temperature for retrogradation and gelatinization temperature f the retrograded soluble starch. *Journal Japan Society of Starch Scientist* 34: 286-291.
- Nakamura, Y. (2002). Towards a Better Understanding of the Metabolic System for Amylopectin Biosynthesis in Plants: Rice Endosperm as a Model Tissue. *Plant Cell Physiology* 43:718-725.
- 12. Jane, J.L. and Shen, J.J. (1993). Internal structure of the potato starch granule revealed by chemical gelatinization. *Carbohydrate Research*. 247:279-90.
- French, A and Zobel, H. F. (1967). X-ray diffraction of oriented amylose fibers. The amylose-dimethyl sulfoxide complex. *Biopolymers* 5:457-464



- Helbert, W., Chanzy, H. (1994). Single crystals of V amylose complexed with n-butanol or n-pentanol: structural features and properties. *International Journal of Biology and Macromolecules* 16:207-213.
- 15. Jane, J., Robyt, J. F. (1984). Structure studies of amylose-V complexes and retrograded amylose by action of alpha amylases, and a new method for preparing amylodextrins. *Carbohydrate Research* 132:105-118.
- Schoch, T. J. (1942). Fractionation of starch by selective precipitation with butanol. Journal of American Chemical Society 64:2957-2961.
- Winter, W.T., Sarko, A. (1972). The crystal structure of amylose-DMSO complex. *Biopolymers* 11: 849-852.
- 18. Miles, M.J., Morris, V.J., Ring, S. G. (1984). Some recent observations of the retrogradation of amylose. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 4: 73-77.
- Gudmundsson, M., Elliasson, A.C. (1990). Retrogradation of amylopectin and the effects of amylose and added surfactants/emulsifiers. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 13:295-315.
- Collona, P., Leloup, V., Buleon. A. (1992). Limiting factors of starch hydrolysis. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition 46:S17-S32.
- Eerlingen, R.C., Jacobs, H., Delcour, J.A. (1994). Enzyme resistant starch VI. Effect of endogenous lipids and added sodium dodecyl sulfate on formation of resistant starch. *Cereal chemistry* 61:351-355.
- Kasemsuwan, T., Jane, J.L. (1995). Location of amylose in normal starch granules. II. Location of phosphodiester cross-linking revealed by phosphorous-31 nuclear magnetic resonance. *Cereal Chemistry* 71:282-287.



- 23. Bailey, J.M., Wheland, W. J. (1961). Physical properties of starch. I. Relationship between iodine stains and chain length. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 48: 1763-1775
- Whistler, R.L., Johnson, C. (1965). Effect of acid hydrolysis on the retrogradation of amylose. *Cereal Chemistry* 25:418-424.
- Gidley, M.J., Bulpin, P.V. (1989). Aggregation of amylose in aqueous system: The effect of chain length of phase behavior and aggregation kinetics. *Macromolecules* 22: 341-346.
- Gidley, M.J., Bulpin, P.V., Kay, S. (1986). Effect of chain length on amylose retrogradation. Pages 167-176 in G.O. Phillips, D.J. Wedlock, and P. A. Williams eds., Gum and Stabilizers for the Food Industry, Elsevier Applied Science, London
- Eerlingen, R.C., Deceunick, M., Delcour J.A. (1993). Enzyme resistant starch II. Influence of amylose chain length on resistant starch formation. *Cereal Chemistry* 70: 345-350.
- Pilling, E., Smith, A. (2003). Growth ring formation in the starch granules of potato tubers. *Plant Physiology* 132:365-371.
- 29. French, D. (1972). Fine structure of starch and its relationship to the organization of starch granules. *Denpun Kagaku* 19:8-25.
- 30. Hizukuri, S. (1986). Polymodal distribution of the chain lengths of amylopectin, and its significance. *Carbohydrate Research* 147:342-347
- 31. Lineback, D.R. (1984). The starch granule organization and properties. *Baker's Digest*61: 16-21
- Manners, D.J. (1989). Some aspects of the structure of the starch and glycogen. *Denpun Kagaku* 36:313-323



- 33. Jane, J.L., Chen, J.F. (1992). Effect of amylose molecular size and amylopectin branch chain length on paste properties of starch. *Cereal Chemistry* 69: 60-65.
- Jane, J.L., Wong, K-S., McPherson, A.E. (1997). Branch-structure difference in starches of A- and B-type X-ray patterns revealed by their Naegeli dextrins. *Carbohydrate Research* 300: 219- 227.
- Jane, J.L, Chen, Y.Y., Lee, L.F., McPherson, A. E., Wong, K-S., Radosavljevic, M., Kasemsuwan, T. (1999). Effects of amylopectin branch chain length and amylose content on the gelatinization and pasting properties of starch. *Cereal Chemistry*. 76: 629-637.
- Hizukuri, S. (1985). Relationship between the distribution of the chain length of amylopectin and the crystalline structure of starch granules. *Carbohydrate Research* 141:295-306.
- Hanashiro, I., Abe, J., Hizukuri, S. (1996). A periodic distribution of the chain length of amylopectin as revealed by high performance anion-exchange chromatography. *Carbohydrate Research* 283: 151-159
- Peat S., Pirt, S.J., Whelan, W. J. (1952). Enzymic synthesis and degradation of starch.
 Part XV. B-amylose and the constitution of amylose. *Journal of Chemical Society* 3: 705-713.
- Manners, D.J., Matheson, N. (1981). The fine structure of amylopectin. *Carbohydrate Research* 90:99-110.
- 40. Jiang, H., Horner, H.T., Pepper, T.M., Blanco, M., Campbell, M., Jane, J. (2010).
 Formation of elongated starch granules in high-amylose maize Carbohydrate Polymers, 80: 533–538.



- 41. French. D. (1984). Organization of starch granules. *In:* Starch: Chemistry and technology, 2nd eds. R.L Whistler, J.N. BeMiller and E.F. Paschall. Academic Press, Orlando, FL, pp 183-237.
- 42. Nikuni, Z. (1978). Studies on starch granules. *Starch/Staerke* 30:105-111.
- 43. French, D. (1984). Organization of starch granules. *In* Starch: Chemistry and Technology, 2nd Eds. R.L. Whistler, J.M. BeMiller, and E.F. Paschall. Academic Press, New York. pp 183-247.
- Imberty, A., Perez, S. (1988). A revisit to the three dimensional structure of B-type starch. *Biopolymers* 27: 1205-1213.
- 45. Wu, H. C. H. Sarko, A. (1978). The double helical molecule structure of crystalline Bamylose. *Carbohydrate Research* 61:7-25.
- Zobel, H. F. (1988). Molecules to granules: A comprehensive starch review. *Starch/Staerke* 40:44-67.
- Pan, D.D. Jane, J.L. (2000). Internal Structure of Normal Maize Starch Granules Revealed by Chemical Surface Gelatinization. *Biomacromolecules* 1:126-132.
- 48. Jane, J. (2006). Current understanding on starch granule structures. *Journal of Applied Glycoscience* 53:205-213.
- 49. Atwell, W.A., Hood, L.F., Lineback, D.R., Varriano-Marston, E. Zobel, H.F. (1988). The terminology and methodology associated with basic starch phenomena. *Cereal Food World* 33: 306-311.
- Eliasson. A.C., Gudmundsson, M. (2006). Starch: Physicochemical and functional aspects. Carbohydrates in Food. Eliasson. A. C. Ed. CRC Press. Florida. pp 391-486
- 51. Srichuwong. S., Sunarti. T. C., Mishima. T., Isono. N., Hisamatsu. M. (2005). Starches



from different botanical sources I: Contribution of amylopectin fine structure to thermal properties and enzyme digestibility. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 60: 529-538.

- 52. Kim, S.k., Chung, H.M., Cho, M. H. (1984). Alkali gelatinization of rice, corn, arrowroot and ginger root starches. *Han'guk Nonghwa Hakhoe Chi: Journal Korean Agricultural and Chemical Society* 27: 214-216.
- 53. Slade, L., Levine, H. (1988). Non-equilibrium melting of native granular starch: Part 1. Temperature location of glass transition associated with gelatinization of A-type cereal starches. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 8: 183-208.
- Noda., T., Nishiba, Y., Sato, T., Suda, I. (2003). Properties of starches from several low amylose rice cultivars. *Cereal Chemistry* 80:193-197.
- 55. Franco, C.M.L., Wong, K.S., Yoo, S.H., Jane, J (2002). Structural and functional characteristics of selected soft wheat starches. *Cereal Chemistry* 79:243-248.
- Jennings, S.D., Myers, D. J., Johnson, L.A., Polack, L.M. (2002). Effects of maturity on corn starch properties. *Cereal Chemistry* 79:703-706.
- 57. Faisant, N., Buléon, A., Colonna, P., Molis, C., Lartigue, S., Galmiche, J. P. and Champ, M. (2007). Digestion of raw banana starch in the small intestine of healthy humans: structural features of resistant starch. *Brazilian Journal of Nutrition* 73:111-123
- Robyt, J. F. (1984). Enzymes in the hydrolysis and synthesis of starch. *In*: Starch: Chemistry and Technology 2nd Eds Whistler. R.L. BeMiller. J. N, Paschall, E.F eds. Academic Press. London. pp 87-123
- Robyt, J. F., French.D. (1967). Multiple attack hypothesis of a-amylase action. Action of porcine, human salivary, and Aspergillus oryzae a-amylases. *Arch. Biochemistry and Biophysics* 122: 8-16.



- 60. Atichokudomchai, N., Jane, J. Hazlewood, G. (2006). Reaction pattern of a novel thermostable a-amylase. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 64:582-588.
- 61. Svensson, B. (1988). Regional distant sequence homology between amylases, amyloglucosidases, and transglucanosylases. *FEBS Lett.* 230: 72-76.
- 62. Tester, R.F., Karkalas, J., Qi, X. (2004). Starch structure and digestibility Enzyme-Substrate relationship. *World's Poultry Science Journal 60*:186-195.
- Jane, J., Ao, Z., Duvick, S.A., Wiklund, M., Yoo, S.-H., Wong, K-S. Gardner, C. (2003). Structures of amylopectin and starch granules: How are they synthesized? *Journal of Applied Glycoscience* 50:167-172.
- Fannon, J. E., Hauber, R. J., BeMiller, J. N. (1992). Surface pores of starch granules. *Cereal Chemistry* 69: 284-288
- 65. Jane., J., Atichokudomchai, N., Suh, D. S., (2004). Internal Structures of Starch Granules Revealed by Confocal Laser-light Scanning Microscopy. *In* Starch: Progress in structural studies, modificiations and applications. Tomasik. P., Yurvey. V. P., Bertoft. E eds. Polish Society of Food Technologist, Crascow, Poland. pp 147-157
- 66. Knutson, C.A., Khoo, U., Cluskey, J.E. and Inglett, G.E. (1982). Variation in enzyme digestibility and gelatinization behavior of corn starch granule fractions. *Cereal Chemistry* 59:512-515.
- Dombrink-Kurtzman, M.A. Knutson, C.A. (1997). A study of maize endosperm hardness in relation to amylose content and susceptibility to damage. *Cereal Chemistry* 74:776-780.
- 68. Cui, R., Oates, C. G. (1999). The effect of amylose lipid complex formation on enzyme susceptibility of sago starch. *Food Chemistry* 65: 417-425.



- 69. Oates, C.G. (1997). Towards an understanding of starch granules structure and hydrolysis. *Trends in Food Science and Technology* 8:375-382.
- Englyst, H.N., Kingman, S.M., Cummings, J. H. (1992). Classification and measurement of nutritionally important starch fractions. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 46:S33-50.
- 71. Moorthy, S.N., Rickard, J. E., Blanshard, M.V. (1994). Influence of gelatinization characteristics of cassava starch and flour on the textural properties on some food products. *International Meeting on Cassava Starch and Flour*. Cali, Columbia.
- Defloor, I., Dehing, I., Levuen., Delcour, J.A. (1998). Physicochemical properties of cassava starch. *Starch/Staerke* 50: 58-64.
- 73. Sriroth, K., Santisopasri, V., Petchalanuvat, C., Kurotjanawong, K., Piyachonkwan, K., Oates, C.G. (1999). Cassava starch granule structure-function properties: influence of time and conditions at harvest on four cultivars of cassava starch. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 38: 161-170.
- 74. Hoover, R. (2001). Composition, molecular structure and physicochemical properties of tuber and root starches: a review. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 45: 253-267.
- Rickard, J.E, Asaoka, M., Blanshard, J.M.V. (1991). The physicochemical properties of cassava starch. *Tropical Science* 31: 189-207.
- 76. Asaoka, M., Blanshard, J.M.V., Rickard, J.E. (1992). Effect of cultivar and growth season on the gelatinization properties of cassava (*Manihot esculenta*) starch. *Journal of Science in Food and Agriculture* 59: 53-58.
- 77. Perez, E.E., Breene, W.M., Bahnassey, Y.A. (1998). Variation in the gelatinization profiles of cassava, sago, and arrowroot native starches as measured with different



thermal and mechanical methods. Starch/Staerke 50: 70-72.

- Defloor, I., Delcour, J.A. (1999). Impact of milling procedure on breadmaking potential of cassava flour in wheatless bread. *Cereal Chemistry* 5: 616-617.
- Jane, J., Ao, Z., Duvick, S, A., Wiklund, M., Yoo, S-H., Wong, K-S., Gardner. C., (2002). Structures of Amylopectin and Starch Granules: How are they synthesized? *Journal of Applied Glycoscience* 50:167-172.
- Soni, P.L., Sharma, H.W., Dobhal, N.P., Bisen, S.S., Srivastava, H.C., Gharia, M.M. (1985). The starches of *Dioscorea ballophylla* and *Amorphaphalus campanulatus*-comparison with tapioca starch. *Starch/Staerke* 37:6-9.
- Cereda, M.P., Mattos. M.C.Y. (1996). Linamarin-the toxic compound of cassava. Jorunal of Venomous Animals and Toxins 2:12-17.
- French, A.D., Murphy, V.G. (1977). Computer modeling in the study of starch. Cereal Food World 22:61-64.
- Zobel, H., French A.D., Hinkle, M.E. (1967). X-ray diffraction of oriented aymlose fibers. II. Structure of V-amylose *Biopolymers* 5: 837-844.
- Tufvesson, F., Wahlgren, M., Eliasson, A-C. (2003b). Formation of amylose-lipid complexes and effects of temperature treatment. Part 2. Fatty acids. *Starch/Staerke* 55:138-149.
- 85. Raphaelides, S. Karkalas, J. (1988). Thermal dissociation of amylose-fatty acid complexes. *Carbohydate Research* 172:65-82.
- Godet, M, C., Bizot, H., Buleon, A. (1995a). Crystallization of amylose-fatty acid complexes prepared with different amylose chain lengths. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 27:47-52.



- 87. Hasjim, J., Lee, S., Hendrich, S., Setiawan, S., Ai,Y., Jane, J. Effects of a novel resistantstarch on postprandial plasma-glucose and insulin responses. *Cereal Chemistry (In press)*.
- Sandstedt, R. M., Schaumburg, L., Fleming, J. (1954). The microstructure of bread and dough. *Cereal Chemistry* 31: 43-49.
- Evans, L.G., Pearson, A.M., Hooper, G.R. (1981). Scanning electron microscopy of flour-water dough treated with oxidizing and reducing agents. *Scanning Electron Microscopy* P3: 583-592.
- Pomeranz, Y., Meyer, D. (1984). Light and scanning microscopy of wheat- and rye-bread crumb. Interpretation of specimens prepared by various methods. *Food Microstructure* 3: 159-164.
- 91. Moss, R., Gore, P.J., Murray, I.C. (1987). The influence of ingredients and processing variables on the quality and microstructure of hokkien, Cantonese and instant noodles. *Food Microstructure* 6: 63-74.
- 92. Cunin, C., Handschin, S., Walther, P., Escher, F. (1995). Structural changes of starch during cooking of durum wheat pasta. *LWT Food Science and Technology* 28:323-328.
- 93. Granfeldt, Y., Björck, I., Hagander, B. (1991). On the importance of processing conditions, product thickness and egg addition for the glycaemic and hormonal responses to pasta: A comparison with bread made from 'pasta ingredients'. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 45:489-99.
- 94. Barkeling, B., Granfelt, Y., Björck, I., Rössner, S. (1995). Effects of carbohydrates in the form of pasta and bread on food intake and satiety in man. *Nutritional Research 15*:467-476.



- 95. Abraham, T.E., Raja, K.C.M., Sreemulana, H., Matthew, A.G. (1979). Improvement of cassava flour by chemical treatment. *Journal of Root Crops* 5: 11-18.
- 96. Hood, L.F., Seigfried, A.S., Meyer, R. (1974). Microstructure of modified tapiopa starchmilk gels. *Journal of Food Science* 39:117-120.
- Wurzburg, O.B. (1986). Cross-linked starches. *In*: Modified starches: Properties and Uses. Wurzberg. O.B. ed. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL. pp 42-53.
- 98. Mentzer, M.J. (1984). Starch in Paper Industry. *In:* Starch:chemistry and technology, 2nd ed,m R.L Whistler, J.N. BeMiller and E.F. Paschall eds., Academic Press, Orlando, FL, pp 543-574.
- Tuschoff, J.V. (1986). Hydroxypropylated starches. *In*: Modified starches: Properties and Uses. Wurzberg. O.B. ed. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL. Pages 89-96.
- 100. Hoover, R., Vasanthan, T. (1994a). The effect of annealing on physicochemical properties of wheat, oat, potato, and lentil starches. *Journal of Food Biochemistry* 17: 303-325.
- 101. Tester, R.F., Debon, S.J.J. (2000). Annealing of starch- A review. *International Journal* of *Biological Macromolecules*. 27: 1-12.
- 102. Shi, Y-C. (2008). Two- and Multi-step annealing of cereal starches in relation to gelatinization. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 56: 1097-1104.
- 103. Chung, H-J., Liu, Q., Hoover, R. (2008). Impact of annealing and heat moisture treatment on rapidly digestible, slowly digestible and resistant starch levels in native and gelatinized corn, pea, and lentil starches. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 74: 345-356.
- 104. Jayakody, L., Hoover, R. (2008). Effect of annealing on the molecular structure and physicochemical properties of starches from different botanical origins- A review.



Carbohydrate Polymers 74: 691-703.

- 105. Jacobs, H., Eerlingen, R.C., Spaepen, H., Grobet, P., Delcour, J.A. (1998). Impact of annealing on the susceptibility of wheat, potato, and pea starches to hydrolysis with pancreatin. *Carbohydrate Research* 305: 193-207.
- 106. O'Brien. S., and Wang. Y-J. (2008). Susceptibility of annealed starches to hydrolysis by a-amylase and glucoamylase. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 72: 597-607
- 107. Nakazawa, Y., Wang, Y-J. (2004). Effect of annealing on starch-palmitic acid interaction. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 57: 327-335.
- 108. Gunaratne, A., Hoover, R. (2002). Effect of heat-moisture treatment on the structure and physicochemical properties of tuber and root starches. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 49: 425-437.
- 109. Donovan, J.W., Lorenz, K., Kulp, K. (1983). Differential scanning calorimetry of heatmoisture treated wheat and potato starches. *Cereal Chemistry* 60: 381-387.
- 110. Abraham, T.E. (1993). Stabilization of paste viscosity of cassava starch by heatmoisture treatment. *Starch/Staerke* 45: 131-135.
- 111. Kobayashi, T. (1993). Susceptibility of heat-moisture treated starches to pancreatic aamylase, and the formation of resistant starch by heat-moisture treatment. *Denpun Kagaku* 40: 285-290.
- 112. Cheesbrough, V., Rosentrater, K.A., Visser, J. (2008) .Properties of Distillers GrainsComposites: A Preliminary Investigation. *Journal of Polymer and the Environment* 16: 40-50.
- 113. Singh, V., Johnston, D. B. (2004). An enzymatic process for corn wet milling. *Advance in Food Nutrition Research* 48: 151-171.


- 114. Wahjudi, J., Xu, L., Wang, P., Singh, V., Buriak, P., Rausch, K.D. McAloon, A. J.,
 Tumbleson. M.E., Eckhoff, S. R. (2000). Quick fiber process: Effect of mash
 temperature, dry solids, and residual germ on fiber yield and purity. *Cereal Chemistry*77:640-644.
- 115. Wang, S., Ingledew, W.M., Thomas, K.C., Sousulski, K., Sosulski, F.W. (1997). Optimization of fermentation temperature and mash specific gravity for fuel alcohol production. *Cereal Chemistry* 76: 82-86.
- 116. Corredor, D. Y., Bean, S. R., Schober, T., Wang, D. (2006). Effect of decorticating sorghum on ethanol production and composition of DDGS. *Cereal Chemistry* 83: 17-21
- 117. Singh, V., Eckhoff, S. R. (1997). Economics of germ preseparation for dry-grind ethanol facilities. *Cereal Chemistry* 74: 462-466.
- 118. Singh, V., Eckhoff, S. R. (1996). Effect of soak time, soak temperature and lactic acid on germ recovery parameters. *Cereal Chemistry* 73: 716-720
- 119. Singh, V., Johnston, D.B., Naidu, K., Rausch. D., Belyea, R., Tumbleson, M. E. (2005).
 Comparison of modified dry-grind corn process for fermentation characteristics and
 DDGS composition. *Cereal Chemistry* 82: 187-190
- 120. Cromwell, G.L., Herkelman, K.L., Stahly. T.S. (1993). Physical, chemical, and nutritional characteristics of distillers dried grain with solubles for chicks and pigs. *Journal of Animal Science* 71: 679-686
- 121. Shurson, J. (2003). DDGS suited for swine, may help ileitis resistance. *Feedstuffs*. 26: 11-13.
- 122. Cheon, Y.J., Lee, H.L., Shin, M.H., Jang, A., Lee, S.K., Lee, H.J., Lee, B.D., Son, K.C.(2008). Effects of corn distillers dried grain with solubles on production and egg quality



in laying hens. Asian-Australian Journal of Animal Science 21:1318-1323

- 123. Roberson, K.D., Kalbfleisch, J.L., Pan,W., Charbeneau, R.A. (2005). Effect of corn distiller's dried grains with solubles at various levels on perf ormance of laying hens and egg yolk color. *Poultry Science* 84: 44-51.
- 124. Amezcua, M., Parsons, C.M. (2007). Effect of increased heat processing and particle size on phosphorus bioavailability in corn distillers's dried grains with solubles. *Poultry Science* 86: 331-337.
- 125. Baker, D.H. (2000). Nutritional constraints to use of soy products by animals In: Soy in Animal Nutrition. Drackley, Ed. Federation of Animal Science Societies. Savoy. IL. pp 1-12.
- 126. NRC. Nutrition Requirements of Poultry, 9th ed. National Academy Press. Washington, DC, 1994.
- 127. Emmert, J.L., Baker, D.H. (1995). Protein quality assessment of soy products. Nutritional Research 11: 1647-1656.
- 128. Batal, A.B., Parsons, C.M. (2003). Utilization of different soy products as affected by age in chickes. Poultry Science 82:454-462.
- 129. Waldroup, P.W., Cotton, T.L. (1974). Maximum usage levels of cooked full-fat soybeans in all-mash broiler diets. Poultry Science 53 677-680
- 130. Penz, Jr. A.M. Brugalli, I. (2000). Soybean products as protein sources in poultry died.In: Soy in Animal Nutrition. Drackley, Ed. Federation of Animal Science Societies.Savoy. IL. pp 289-306
- 131. Pearce, M.D., Marks, B.P., Meullenet, J.F. (2001). Effects of post- harvest parameters on the functional changes during rough rice storage. *Cereal Chemistry* 78, 354–357.



- 132. Villareal, R.M., Resurreccion, A.P., Suzuki, L. B., Juliano, L. B. (1976). Changes in physicochemical properties of rice during storage. *Starch/Stärke*, 28:88–94.
- 133. Daniels, M.J., Marks, B.P., Siebenmorgen, T.J., McNew, R.W., Meullenet, J.F. (1998).
 Effects of long-grain rough rice storage history on end use quality. *Journal of Food Science* 63:832-835.
- 134. Juliano, B.O. (1984). Criteria and tests for rice grain qualities. Rice Chemistry and Technology. Juliano. B.O. eds. American Association of Cereal Chemists, St. Paul, MN. pp 443-525
- 135. Chrastil, J. (1990). Chemical and physicochemical changes of rice during storage. Journal of Cereal Science 11:71-85.
- 136. Abera, S., and Rakshit, S. K. (2004). Effect of dry cassava chip storage on yield and functional properties of extracted Starch. *Starch/Staerke* 56: 232-240
- 137. Patindol, J, Wang, Y-J., Jane, J.L. (2005). Structure-functionality changes in starch following rough rice Storage. *Starch/Stärke* 57:197-207.
- 138. Galliard, T. (1986). Hydrolytic and oxidative degradation of lipids during storage of whole meal flour: Effects of bran and germ components. *Journal of Cereal Science* 4 179-192.
- 139. Hayfa, S., Copeland, L. (2007). Effect of storage on fat acidity and pasting characteristics of wheat flour. *Cereal Chemistry* 84, 600-606.
- 140. Pomeranz, Y. Biochemical, functional, and nutritive changes during storage (1992). *In*Storage of Cereal Grains and Their Products. 4th Ed. D.B Sauer, AACC International; StPaul, MN. pp 145-215

141. Chrastil, J., Zarins, Z.M. (1992). Influence of storage on peptide subunit composition or



rice oryzenin. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry 40: 927-930.

- 142. Chrastil, J. (1990). Influence of storage on enzyme in rice grains. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 38: 1198-1202.
- 143. Zhou, Z., Robards, K., Helliwell, S., Blanchard, C. (2003). Effect of rice storage on pasting properties of rice flour. *Food Research Interational* 36,625-634.
- 144. Thomas, D., Atwell, W.A. (1999). Starch analysis methods. *In:* Starch. American Association of Cereal Chemist. St. Paul. MN. pp 13-24





Figure 1. Proposed model of amylopectin cluster with chain classification (30).







Figure 2. Light micrograph (100X) (A) and polarized-light micrograph (B) of normal maize starch showing a typical birefringence of starch commonly known as "Maltese-cross".





Figure 3. Double helices packing of amylopectin in A) A-type starches, and B) B-type starches (*44*).





Figure 4. Typical starch pasting profiles and pasting parameters measured using Rapid Visco Analyzer (RVA) (*144*).





Figure 5. Scanning electron micrograph of amylase hydrolyzed starch (normal maize) residues illustrating the successive endo-corrosion mechanism of enzyme hydrolysis





Figure 6. Light micrograph of cassava starch showing some typical bell-shaped (black arrow) and spherical (white arrow) granules.



CHAPTER 2. EFFECTS OF GRAIN DRYING TEMPERATURE ON STARCH FUNCTIONAL PROPERTIES OF CORN KERNELS

Stephen Setiawan and Jay-lin Jane

Department of Food Science and Human Nutrition, Iowa State University, Ames, IA 50011

ABSTRACT

The objective of this study was to understand effects of drying temperature on starch functional properties of corn kernels. Corn kernels of a maize hybrid line (B73xMo17, 32.5% moisture, db) were dried at three different drying temperatures (37, 80, 120/80°C). The corn kernels dried at higher temperatures (80 and 120/80°C) showed higher starch digestibility (78.8 and 81.5% after 8 h hydrolysis for 80 and 120/80°C, respectively) than that dried at a lower temperature (37°C) (65.7%). The polarized-light micrographs of starch isolated from corn kernels dried at higher temperatures showed some starch granules that lost their birefringence (Maltese-cross). Starch isolated from corn kernels dried at higher temperatures (80 and 120/80°C) showed higher gelatinization temperature and lower gelatinization enthalpy-changes. Starch digestibility of the dried-corn samples decreased after storage at 37°C and 93% relative humidity (RH) for 3 and 6 days.

INTRODUCTION

After harvesting, shelled maize kernels are commonly dried at high temperature to reduce the moisture content before storage. Effects of high-temperature drying on maize qualities,



such as starch yield, starch paste property, and resistance to mechanical forces have been reported (1-3). It is a common practice in some countries to harvest maize at high moisture contents (30-35%). Maize kernels with high moisture contents are susceptible to starch gelatinization when they are exposed to high-temperature drying. After gelatinization, starch loses its native crystalline structure and becomes more susceptible to enzymatic hydrolysis. Starch gelatinization is an endothermic reaction and can be determined using differential scanning calorimetry (DSC) (4). An increase in drying temperature of corn kernels results in higher onset starch gelatinization temperature and lower gelatinization enthalpy change (5, 6). Gelatinized starch molecules tend to retrograde and form double-helical crystallites during storage (7). Starch retrogradation rate depends on the storage conditions (temperature and relative humidity), amylose content, amylopectin structure and lipid content of starch (8-10). Retrograded starch is highly resistant to enzymatic hydrolysis and correlated with quality changes, such as bread staling and hardening of rice cakes. High-temperature drying of corn kernels decreases protein yield and protein nutritive value of the kernels (11, 12). High-temperature drying, however, does not change the fatty acid composition of maize kernels (13). The objective of this study was to understand effects of grain drying temperature on starch functional properties of corn kernels. This study will provide useful information to select a proper drying temperature for grain processing.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Materials

A maize hybrid used in this study (B73xMo17) was grown in 2008, in Ames, IA, and provided by Dr. Michael Blanco of USDA-ARS. Freshly harvested maize kernels (32.5%



moisture, db) were dried at three different temperatures. Sample A was dried at 80°C for 5 hours using a flow-through air convection oven (VWR HAFO series Mod.1675, Westchester, PA). Sample B was dried at 120°C for 30 minutes to reduce the moisture content to approximately 20-21% followed by drying at 80°C for 3 hours using the same oven as used for sample A. These drying temperatures were used to mimic the actual drying conditions in animal feed production. Sample C was dried at 37°C for approximately 4 days using a convection oven (Napco Mod. 320). The moisture content of each maize sample after drying was analyzed using a gravimetric method. The dried-corn samples were ground using a Cyclone Mill (UDY Corporation, CO, USA) equipped with a screen with 0.5 mm openings. This grinding step was repeated twice to ensure homogeneous fine particle size. Porcine pancreatic α -amylase (PPA) and glucoamylase (GA) from *Aspergillus niger* were purchased from Sigma Aldrich Corporation (St. Louis, MO).

Starch digestibility

Starch digestibility of each dried corn sample was analyzed following the method of *Hasjim et al* (14) with modifications. Ground corn samples (<0.5mm particle size), each containing 200 mg of starch (db), were suspended in a phosphate buffer solution (20 ml, 0.02M, pH 6.9, containing 0.25 mM CaCl₂) and equilibrated at 40°C for 1 h. One ml of a PPA solution (200 units) was added to the suspension. Enzyme hydrolysis was carried out at 40°C, and aliquots (0.2 ml) of the hydrolysate were withdrawn at different time intervals. The aliquots were centrifuged at 6059 *g* for 5 minutes, and the supernatant was collected and diluted with a sodium acetate buffer solution (0.02 M, pH 4.5). Glucoamylase (10 units) was added to the supernatant, and the hydrolysis was carried out at 50°C for 2 h. The glucose



content of the hydrolysate was determined using Glucose assay kits (GOPOD assay). Percentage starch hydrolysis (%) was calculated using the following equation:

Percentage starch hydrolysis(%) = $\frac{\text{Glucose content} \times 0.9}{\text{Initial starch weight (dry basis)}}$

Storage of ground corn dried at different temperatures

Corn kernels dried at three different temperatures (80, 120/80, and 37°C) were ground (<0.5 mm particle size) and stored in chambers of 93 or 100% relative humidity (RH) at 37°C. An aqueous solution of saturated potassium nitrate (KNO₃) was used to provide 93% RH, and water was used to provide 100% RH. These storage conditions were chosen to mimic the storage conditions in the tropical climates.

Starch isolation

Dried corn kernels (50 g) were steeped in an aqueous solution of 0.45% sodium metabisulfite in a refrigerator for overnight. Germs of steeped corn-kernels were removed. The degermed-corn samples were ground using a commercial blender (Osterizer-14Speeds Blender, US) for 5 min. The slurry was filtered through a nylon screen with a pore size of 53 µm and washed with excess water. The residue was ground again with additional distilled water until no more starch was released. Starch was collected by centrifugation, re-suspended in an aqueous solution of 0.1 M NaCl containing 10% toluene, and stirred for 1 h to remove protein. This treatment was repeated until the toluene layer became clear and contained no protein. The purified starch was washed twice with distilled water, rinsed twice with 100% ethanol, dried at 37°C for 48 h, and kept in a sealed container before use (*15*).



Thermal properties of isolated starch

Thermal properties of the starch isolated from dried corn-kernels were analyzed using a differential scanning calorimeter (DSC) (Diamond DSC, Perkin-Elmer, Norwalk, CT) (*16*). Each isolated starch samples (2 mg, db) was precisely weighed in an aluminum pan, and deionized water (6µl) was added. The mixture was sealed and allowed to equilibrate at the room temperature for 1 hour. The sample was heated from 10°C to 110°C at a rate of 10°C/minute. An empty pan was used as the reference, and indium was used as a reference standard.

Light microscopy

Starch isolated from corn kernels dried at different temperatures was sprinkled on glass slides (75mm x 25mm), and a glycerol-water (50:50) solution was used as a medium. Starch samples were observed using a Nikon Labophot Series Microscope (Frank. E. Fryer. Co, Edina, MN) equipped with a digital camera (Infinity-3, Lumenera Corporation, Minneapolis, MN). Digital images were captured using imaging software (Infinity ANALYZE version 4.5.0)

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Drying regimes and the moisture contents of the dried samples are summarized in **Table 1.** Starch digestibility of ground maize samples dried at different temperatures are shown in **Figure 1**. The sample dried at 120/80°C showed the greatest rate of starch hydrolysis, whereas the sample dried at 37°C showed the least. **Figure 1** showed that after 8 h



hydrolysis, sample B reached 81.5% starch hydrolysis followed by sample A at 78.8% and sample C at 65.7% (**Figure 1**). After 24 h hydrolysis, all the samples were completely or close to be completely hydrolyzed (99.8-100%), indicating no significant effect of drying temperature on resistant starch formation.

Thermal properties of the starch isolated from the dried maize samples (A, B and C) are summarized in **Table 2**. Starch isolated from sample B, which was dried at 120/80°C, had the lowest enthalpy change (11.56 J/g) followed by that from sample A (12.14 J/g) and sample C (14.21 J/g). The differences in gelatinization enthalpy-changes were attributed to partial gelatinization of starch in samples A and B (17, 18). Starch partial gelatinization caused disassociation of some of the starch native double helices. Thus, the starch required less energy to be fully gelatinized during DSC thermal scanning. Starch isolated from samples A and B had higher onset gelatinization temperatures (To) than that from sample C. The increase in the onset gelatinization temperature of starch after high-temperature drying has been reported in the literature (19). The gelatinization of starch in the samples A and B occurred on those less-stable double helices of the starch molecules, which readily gelatinized during heating. Thus, the double helices of the starch samples remaining after drying were more stable and displayed higher onset gelatinization temperatures (20). Partial gelatinization of starches in samples A and B resulted greater rate of starch digestibility shown in Figure 1 (21)

Partial gelatinization of starch was reflected by loss of birefringence (Maltese cross) of isolated starch granules when viewed under a polarized-light microscope. The bright-field and polarized-light micrographs showed that starch isolated from sample B suffered a greater degree of starch partial gelatinization than starch isolated from samples A and C (**Figure 2**).



Sample B, dried at 120/80°C, had more starch granules without birefringence than the sample A, dried at 80°C. Sample C, on the other hand, had intact starch granules that exhibit clear birefringence. Guler et al reported that heating the wheat dough at 65 and 85°C during pasta preparation caused some starch granules to lose their birefringence (*22*).

Starch digestibilities of the samples decreased after storage at 37°C and 93% RH for 3 and 6 days (**Table 3**). Exposure of starch to high humidity at 37°C during storage likely caused gelatinized-starch molecules to retrograde and crystalline starch to anneal. The decreases in starch hydrolysis rate were more significant during the first 4 h hydrolysis. For example, after 6 days of storage, sample A showed 3.7, 5.2, and 4.0% reduction in starch digestibility after 1 h, 2 h, and 3 h of hydrolysis, respectively, comparing with 1.4% after 8 h hydrolysis (**Table 3**). The samples stored at 100% RH showed severe mold growth after 1-2 days of storage. Samples A and B showed earlier signs of mold growth than sample C. All samples stored at 93%RH showed mold growth with the same trend after 7-8 days of storage. These results suggested that drying at high temperatures decreased microbial stability of the samples during storage at 37°C and high relative humidity.

CONCLUSION

Grain drying temperature of corn kernels affected the starch functional properties of the dried products. Drying corn kernels with high moisture contents (32.5%, db) at the high temperatures (80 and 120/80°C) resulted in partial gelatinization of starch. The partially gelatinized starch showed loss of Maltese-cross when viewed under a polarized-light microscope. The partially gelatinized starch was responsible for the greater rate of starch



digestibility, the high starch onset-gelatinization temperature, and the lower gelatinization enthalpy-change of samples dried at the higher temperature. All dried corn samples showed decreased starch digestibility after storage at 37°C and 93% RH for 3 and 6 days.

LITERATURES CITED

- 1. Mistry, A. H., Wu, X. Eckhoff, S.R. Litchfiled, J. B. (1993). Wet milling characteristics of high-temperature, high-humidity maize. *Cereal Chemistry* 70 (3):360-361.
- 2. Gunasekaran, S., Paulsen, M.R. (1985). Breakage resistance of maize as a function of drying rates. *American Society of Agriculture and Engineering* 28 (6): 2071-2076.
- Singh, V., Haken, A. E. Paulsen, M.R., Eckhoff, S.R. (1998). Starch yield sensitivity of maize hybrids to drying temperature and harvest moisture content. *Starch/Staekre 50* (5): 181-183.
- Freitas, A., Paula, R.C., Feitosa, J.A., Rocha, S., Sierakowski, M.R. (2004). Amylose contents, rheological properties and gelatinization kinetics of yam (*Dioscorea alata*) and cassava (*Manihot utilisima*). *Carbohydrate Polymers* 55:3-8.
- Haros, M., Suarez, C. (1998). Effect of drying, initial moisture and variety in maize wet milling. *Journal of Food Engineering* 34: 473-481.
- Haros, M., Tolaba, M. P., Suarez, C. (2003). Influence of maize drying on its quality for the wet-milling process. *Journal of Food Engineering* 60:177-184.
- Guraya, H.S., James, C., Champagne, E.T. (2001). Effect of enzyme concentration and storage temperature on the formation of slowly digestible starch from cooked debranched rice starch. *Starch/Staerke* 53:131-139.



- Jane, J., Chen, Y.Y., Lee, L.F., McPherson, A.E., Wong, K.S., Radosavljevic, M., Kasemsuwan, T. (1999). Effects of amylopectin branch chain length and amylose content on the gelatinization and pasting properties of starch. *Cereal Chemistry* 76:629-637.
- 9. Sievert, D., Wusch, P. (1993). Amylose chain association based on differential scanning calorimetry. *Journal of Food Science* 58:1332-1335.
- 10. Slade, L., Levine, H. (1987). Recent advances in starch retrogradation. in:Industrial polysaccharides. The impact of biotechnology and advanced methodologies. S.S. Stivala, V. Crescenzi and I. C. M. Dea, eds. Gordon & Breach Science Pub, New York. pp 387-430
- 11. Wall, J.S., James, C., Donaldson, G.L. (1975). Corn protein: Chemical and physical changes during drying of grain. *Cereal Chemistry* 52: 779-790.
- 12. Hathaway, O.L., Griffin, E. L, Jr., Shove, G (1952). Dry milling of corn artificially dried at various temperatures. *Journal of Animal Science*: 11: 430-436.
- 13. Chow, C.K., Draper, H.H. (1969). Effect of artificial drying on tocopherols and fatty acids of corn. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 17:1316-1317.
- Hasjim, J., Srichuwong, S., Scott, M.P., Jane, J. (2009). Kernel composition, starch structure, and enzyme digestibility of *opaque-2* corn and quality protein corn. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 57: 2049–2055.
- 15. Li, L., Jiang, H., Campbell, M., Blanco, M., Jane, J. (2008). Characterization of maize amylose-extender (ae) mutant starches. Part I: Relationship between resistant starch contents and molecular structures. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 74:396-404.
- 16. Song, Y., Jane, J. (2000). Characterization of barley starches of waxy, normal, and high amylose varieties. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 41:365-377.



- Chung, H-J., Lim, H.S., Lim, S-T., (2006). Effect of partial gelatinization and retrogradation on the enzymatic digestion of waxy rice starch. *Journal of Cereal Science* 43: 353-359.
- Jacobs, H., Delcour, J.A. (1998). Hydrothermal modifications of granular starch, with retention of the granular structure: A review. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 46:2895-2905.
- 19. Chung, H-J., Liu, Q., Hoover, R. (2008). Impact of annealing and heat moisture treatment on rapidly digestible, slowly digestible and resistant starch levels in native and gelatinized corn, pea, and lentil starches. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 74:345-356.
- 20. Eerlingen, R.C., Jacobs, H., Van Win, H., Delcour, J.A. (1996). Effect of hydrothermal treatment on the gelatinization properties of potato starch as measured by differential scanning calorimetry. *Journal of Thermal Analysis* 47: 1229-1246.
- Tester, R.F., Qi, X., Karkalas, J. (2006). Hydrolysis of native starches with amylases.
 Animal Feed Science and Technology 130: 39-54.
- 22. Guler, S., Koksel, H., Ng, P.K.W. (2002). Effect of industrial pasta drying temperatures on starch properties and pasta qualities. *Food Research International* 35:421-427.



Sample ID	Initial Moisture (%)	First	Dryer	Second Dryer		
		Temperature (°C)	Moisture Out (%)	Temperature (°C)	Moisture Out (%)	
A (80°)	32.5 ± 0.8	80	12.1	-		
B (120°/80°)	32.5 ± 0.8	120	21.3	80	11.2	
C (37°C)	32.5 ± 0.8	37	10.9	-		

Table 1. Drying process and moisture contents of the corn kernels used in samples A (80°C), B (120/80°C) and C (37°C)



www.manaraa.com

Sample	Thermal Properties					
Sumpre	To (°C)	Tp (°C)	Tc (°C)	ΔH (J/g)		
A (80°)	64.61 ± 0.09	69.70 ± 0.14	74.40 ± 0.13	12.14 ± 0.07		
B (120°/80°)	65.19 ± 0.12	72.36 ± 0.36	74.94 ± 0.02	11.56 ± 0.10		
C (37°C)	60.62 ± 0.12	67.76 ± 0.04	73.59 ± 0.56	14.21 ± 0.19		

Table 2. Thermal properties of starches isolated from corn kernels dried at A (80°C), B (120/80°C) and C (37°C)



Hydrolysis		Percentage Hydrolysis (%)								
Time (h)	A				В			С		
	0d	3d	6d	0d	3d	6d	0d	3d	6d	
1	47.3 ± 0.6	45.2 ± 1.3	43.8 ± 2.7	51.5 ± 0.6	47.0 ± 0.8	47.4 ± 0.5	30.6 ± 0.5	28.2 ± 2.3	26.9 ± 1.4	
2	57.4 ± 2.3	53.5±1.1	52.1 ± 0.5	60.4 ± 0.8	58.5 ± 2.1	58.8 ± 0.8	38.2 ± 1.7	37.6 ± 0.2	36.4 ± 0.8	
3	64.5 ± 1.1	61.0 ± 2.1	60.4 ± 3.1	68.0 ± 2.3	67.0 ± 1.4	66.5 ± 2.1	46.2 ± 0.3	43.4 ± 0.7	43.2 ± 0.7	
4	67.9 ± 0.2	64.7 ± 1.2	64.8 ± 0.5	70.0 ± 1.8	69.6 ± 1.7	69.4 ± 0.4	49.6 ± 0.6	48.8 ± 0.5	49.0 ± 1.5	
6	73.3 ± 2.4	72.6± 3.1	72.1 ± 0.7	75.4 ± 0.4	75.9 ± 1.6	75.6 ± 0.4	58.3 ± 0.8	58.5 ± 0.3	58.1 ± 0.4	
8	78.8 ± 2.7	77.1 ± 1.8	77.4 ± 1.5	81.5 ± 1.5	80.3 ± 2.1	$80.3\ \pm 0.8$	65.7 ± 1.3	66.8 ± 2.7	65.1 ± 1.5	
24	99.8 ± 0.6	98.4 ± 1.6	99.9 ± 2.3	100.4 ± 2.3	100.1 ± 2.1	99.2 ± 3.8	99.9 ± 2.0	99.8 ± 1.2	98.3 ± 2.1	

Table 3.Starch digestibility of finely-ground corn samples dried at different temperaturs (A, B and C) stored at 37 °C and 93 % relative humidity for 0, 3 and 6 days





Figure 1. Starch digestibility of finely-ground corn samples dried at different temperatures measured as on the basis of glucose production over starch content on dry weight basis





Figure 2. Bright-field and polarized-light micrographs (400X) of starch isolated from maize dried at A (80°C), B (120/80°C), and C (37°C) Arrow indicates partially-gelatinized starch granule



CHAPTER 3. CHANGES IN STARCH STRUCTURES AND FUNCTIONS AFTER STORAGE OF DRIED CORN KERNELS AT AN ELEVATED HUMIDITY

A paper to be submitted to the Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry

Stephen Setiawan¹, Hany Widjaya², Vinai Rhakpongpairoj², Jay-lin Jane¹

¹Department of Food Science and Human Nutrition, Iowa State University, Ames, IA 50011

²Charoen Pokphand Indonesia, Jakarta Utara 14430, Jakarta, Indonesia

ABSTRACT

The objective of this study was to understand effects of storing dried corn kernels at 27°C and 85-90% relative humidity for up to 6 months on starch structures and functions. Corn kernels were sun dried at 35°C or machine dried at 80°C prior to storage. Starch digestibility and peak viscosity of both ground sun-dried and machine-dried corn samples decreased after storage. The rate of enzymatic hydrolysis of starch isolated from the sun-dried samples increased but that from the machine-dried samples decreased with the storage time of the corn. The gelatinization temperature, pasting temperature, and percentage crystallinity of the isolated starch increased but the gelatinization enthalpy-change and peak viscosity of the starch decreased with storage time of the corn. Numbers of damaged starch granules and



starch granules with pinholes increased and the molecular weight of starch and long branchchains of amylopectin decreased with storage time.

INTRODUCTION

Storage of dried crops is a common practice in food and agriculture industries. Changes in chemical structures and functional properties of the crops after storage impact their processability and qualities of products made from them. Extensive storage is known to reduce starch yield during wet milling because of starch degradation and interactions between starch and other components of the grain (1). Storage increases lipid oxidation and free fatty acid contents of the grain (2, 3). The free fatty acids can form helical complex with amylose or long branch-chains of amylopectin and alter the physical and nutritional properties of the grain (4, 5). Storage of crops also decreases grain protein solubility and digestibility (6, 7). *Chrastil et al* (8, 9) reported that storage increased the molecular weight of the protein in rice grain through disulfide bond formation. Storage of crops changes the activity and properties of endogenous enzymes present in the grain, such as amylases, proteases, and phosphatase (10).

Starch is widely used in food and non-food applications. Thus, changes in starch functional properties significantly impact the quality of products made from the starch (*11*). *Patindol et al* (*12*) reported that storage of rough rice at controlled temperatures of 4, 21, and 38°C up to nine months affected starch pasting and thermal properties and decreased long branch-chains of amylopectin. Effects of storage of dried corn kernels at elevated humidity on starch structures and functional properties are not well understood. The objective of this



study was to understand effects of storage of dried corn-kernels at 27°C and 85-90% relative humidity (RH) on starch structures and functions. In the present study, shelled corn kernels (B-816, 27.8% moisture, db) were sun-dried at 35°C (SD) or machine-dried at 80°C (MD).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Materials

Shelled corn kernels (B-816, 27.8% moisture, db) were dried using sun-drying (35°C) and machine-drying methods (80°C) until they reached the moisture contents of 12.5-13.1% (db). Dried corn kernels were stored at 27°C and 85-90%RH for up to 6 months. Each of the stored corn-samples was ground using a commercial blender (Panasonic MX-J1G, Indonesia), and sieved using a sieve with 1.0 mm openings. The ground samples were kept in a sealed container at -15°C prior to analyses. The dried-corn samples without storage (0 month) were used as the control. B-816 is a tropical maize variety that was grown and provided by Charoen Pokphand Indonesia. The drying and storage of this corn were done in Indonesia, and coarsely ground corn samples were sent by express mail to Iowa State University for characterization of corn and isolated starch. Porcine pancreatic α -amylase (PPA) and amyloglucosidase from *Aspergillus niger* were purchased from Sigma Aldrich Corporation (St. Louis, MO). Glucose assay kits (GOPOD format, Catalog: K-GLUC) were purchased from Megazyme International (Wicklow, Ireland).

Starch isolation



Dried corn samples (50 g) were steeped in an aqueous solution of 0.45% sodium metabisulfite in a refrigerator overnight. The steeped sample was ground using a commercial blender (Osterizer-14Speeds Blender, US) for 5 min, and the process was repeated three times. The ground sample was filtered through a nylon screen with a pore size of 53 μ m and washed with excess water. The residue was ground again with additional distilled water until no more starch was released. Starch was collected by centrifugation, re-suspended in an aqueous solution of 0.1 M NaCl containing 10% toluene, and stirred for 1 h to remove protein. This treatment was repeated until the toluene layer became clear and contained no protein. The purified starch was washed twice with distilled water, rinsed twice with 100% ethanol, dried at 37°C for 48 h, and kept in a sealed container until used (*13*).

Starch digestibility

Starch digestibilities of ground corn samples and isolated starch samples were analyzed following the method of *Hasjim et al* (14) with modifications. Isolated starch (200 mg, db) or finely-ground corn (<0.5mm particle size) containing 200 mg of starch (db) was suspended in a phosphate buffer solution (20 ml, 0.02 M, pH 6.9, containing 0.25 mM CaCl₂) and equilibrated at 40°C for 1 h. An aliquot of each sample was withdrawn before adding PPA and analyzed for the initial soluble-sugar content. One ml of PPA solution (200 units/g of starch) was added to the suspension. Enzyme hydrolysis of starch was carried out at 40°C, and aliquots (0.2 ml) of the hydrolysate were withdrawn at different time intervals. The aliquots were centrifuged at 6059 *g* for 5 minutes, and the supernatant was collected and diluted with a sodium acetate buffer solution (0.02 M, pH 4.5). Amyloglucosidase (10 units) was added to the supernatant, and the hydrolysis was carried out at 50°C for 2 h. The



glucose content of the hydrolysate was determined using Glucose assay kits (GOPOD format). The analysis was done in duplicate. Percentage starch hydrolysis (%) was calculated using the following equation:

Percentage starch hydrolysis(%) = $\frac{\text{Glucose content} \times 0.9}{\text{Initial starch weight (dry basis)}}$

Pasting properties of starch

Pasting properties of ground corn samples and isolated starch samples were analyzed using a Rapid Visco-Analyzer (RVA-4, Newport Scientific, Sidney, Australia) (*15*). Isolated starch (2.24 g, db) or finely-ground corn (<0.5 mm particle size) containing 2.24 g of starch (db) was suspended in distilled water in an RVA canister making up the total weight to 28 g. The starch suspension was premixed at 960 rpm for 10 seconds, equilibrated at 50°C for 1 min, heated to 95°C at a rate of 6.0°C/min, maintained at 95°C for 5.5 minutes, and then cooled down to 50°C at a rate of 6.0°C/min. A constant paddle rotating speed (160 rpm) was used after the premixing step and through the analyses. The analysis was done in duplicate.

Thermal properties of starch

Thermal properties of the isolated starch samples were analyzed using a differential scanning calorimeter (DSC) (Diamond DSC, Perkin-Elmer, Norwalk, CT) (*16*). Each starch sample (2 mg, db) was precisely weighed in an aluminum pan, and deionized water (6 μ l) was added. The mixture was sealed and allowed to equilibrate at the room temperature for 1 h. The sample was heated from 10 to 110°C at a rate of 10°C/minute. An empty pan was



used as the reference, and indium was used as a reference standard. The analysis was done in triplicate

Morphology of starch granules

Morphology of isolated starch granules was studied following the method of Jane et al (*17*). Starch was suspended in absolute methanol, and a drop of the suspension was placed on silver tape, sticky side down, attached to a brass disk and sputter coated with gold/palladium (60/40). The mounted specimens were captured at a magnification of 1500X using a scanning electron microscope (SEM, JEOL model, JSM-5800LV Tokyo, Japan) at the Microscopy and Nanoimaging Facility (Bessey Hall, Iowa State University, Ames, IA).

Starch Crystallinity

The X-ray diffraction patterns and percentages crystallinity of isolated starch samples were studied using X-ray diffractometry (18). Samples were equilibrated in a chamber of 100% relative humidity at room temperature (22-24°C) for 24 h. The X-ray diffraction patterns of starches were obtained with copper K_{α} radiation using a diffractometer (D-500, Siemens, Madison, WI) at Town Engineering X-Ray Facility (Iowa State University, Ames, IA). The diffractometer was operated at 27 mA and 50 kV. The scanning region of the twotheta angle (2 θ) was from 4 to 40° at 0.05° step size with a count time of 2 seconds.

Molecular-weight distributions of starch

Molecular-weight distributions of isolated starch samples were determined using gel permeation chromatography (GPC) (*16*). Starch was dispersed in 90% DMSO by heating and



stirring the starch suspension in a boiling-water bath for 1 h and followed by stirring at room temperature (22-24°C) overnight to make a 1% (w/v) dispersion. The dispersed starch was recovered by precipitation with ethanol (5X, v/v) and centrifuged at 6059 *g* for 30 minutes. The collected sample was then re-dispersed in hot deionized water to make a 0.3% dispersion by heating in the boiling-water bath for 30 minutes. After cooling to room temperature, the starch dispersion was injected into a GPC column (1.5 cm i.d. x 50 cm) packed with Sepharose CL-2B gel (Pharmacia, Inc., Piscataway, NJ). Eluent of each fraction (1.66 ml) was collected, and the total carbohydrate content (CHO) of the eluent was analyzed using a phenol-sulfuric acid method (*19*), and the blue value (BV) was analyzed by mixing the eluent with an iodine/potassium iodide solution at 1:1 (v/v) (*20*). The colors developed from the CHO and BV analyses were quantified using an Ultra Microplate Reader (EL_x808, Bio-Tek Instruments, Inc., Winooski, VT) at 490 and 630 nm, respectively. The analysis was done in duplicate.

Branch-chain length distribution of amylopectin

Amylopectin branch-chain length distribution of the isolated starch sample was analyzed following the method of *Morell et al* (21). Amylopectin was separated from amylose by complexing and precipitating the amylose molecule with n-butanol (22). The isolated amylopectin was debranched using isoamylase (Megazyme, Ireland) at 40°C for 16 h, dried, and derivatized with 8-amino-1, 3, 6-pyrenetrisulphonic acid (APTS). The branch-chain length distribution was analyzed using capillary electrophoresis (P/ACE) (MDQ, Beckman Courter, Fullerton, CA). The analysis was done in duplicate.



Statistical Analysis

Mean values of the starch digestibility, pasting and thermal properties of starch, molecular weight distribution of starch, and branch-chain length distribution of amylopectin were analyzed using analysis of variance (ANOVA) with the General Linear Model procedure in SAS version 9.1 (SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, NC). Differences were evaluated by t-test using Tukey's adjustment. The significance level was set at p -value < 0.05.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Starch digestibility of ground corn samples (<0.5 mm particle size) after 0 to 6 months of storage are shown in **Table 1**. The concentration of soluble sugars of the sun-dried corn samples (0 h, before adding PPA) increased from 2.5% on 0 month to 4.4% after 6 months of storage (**Table 1**). In contrast, the concentration of soluble sugars of the machine-dried corn samples showed no clear trend of changes after storage. The increasing concentrations of soluble sugars of the sun-dried corn after storage were attributed to starch hydrolysis during storage. It is plausible that either endogenous amylases or amylases of contaminating microorganisms present in the sun-dried corn hydrolyze the starch during storage. Most of the amylases could be inactivated during machine drying at 80°C, and, thus, there was no trend of increases in soluble sugar content with storage of machine-dried corn samples. Both the sun-dried and machine-dried corn samples showed decreases in starch digestibility after storage (**Table 1**). The pasting properties of the ground corn samples (<0.5 mm particle size) after different periods of storage are shown in **Figures 1**. The peak viscosities (PV) of the corn samples gradually decreased between 0 and 6 months of storage, from 164.0 to 107.3



RVU and 168.3 to 113.3 RVU for sun-dried and machine-dried corn, respectively. These results agreed with that reported by Zhou et al on decreases in the peak viscosity of rice flour after storage (*23*).

Enzymatic hydrolysis rates of starches that were isolated from the dried-corn samples after storage, however, showed different trends from those of ground corn samples (**Table 2**). The starches isolated from sun-dried corn samples showed increases in the rate of starch hydrolysis from 77.2 (0 month) to 84.9% (6 month) after 8 h hydrolysis. In contrast, the starches isolated from the machine-dried samples showed decreases in the rate of hydrolysis from 79.1 (0 month) to 75.6% (6 month) after 8 h hydrolysis (**Table 2**). Similar to the ground corn samples (**Table 1**), the concentration of soluble sugars of the sun-dried starch samples (0 h, before adding PPA) increased from 2.4 to 5.1% after 0 to 6 months of storage, whereas, that of the machine-dried counterparts showed little differences (Table 2). The starch isolated from machine-dried corn sample without storage showed a slightly greater initial rate of enzyme hydrolysis (e.g. 47.5% at 2 h hydrolysis) than that of the sun-dried counterpart (44.1% at 2 h hydrolysis) (Table 2). This difference could be a result of heating the corn kernels at 80°C during machine drying, which caused partial gelatinization of starch. Gelatinized starch is known to be more easily digestible (24). After storage, the gelatinized starch could be retrograded and became resistant to enzyme hydrolysis (**Table 2**). More discussion will follow.

Thermal properties of the starch isolated from sun-dried and machine-dried corn samples after different periods of storage are shown in **Table 3**. The onset gelatinization temperature (To) of the starch increased after 0 to 6 month storage (68.74 to 71.21°C and 68.76 to 71.95°C for sun-dried and machine-dried starch samples, respectively). The starch isolated



from machine-dried corn without storage showed lower gelatinization enthalpy-changes (12.28 J/g) than that from the sun-dried counterpart (13.21 J/g). This result confirmed that drying corn kernels with 27.8% moisture content at 80°C caused partial gelatinization of starch. The gelatinization enthalpy-changes (Δ H) of starches from both sun-dried and machine-dried samples decreased with storage. The decreases in the gelatinization enthalpy-change after 6 months of storage were greater for the starch isolated from sun-dried samples (2.67 J/g) than that from the machine-dried counterparts (1.57 J/g) (calculated from data in **Table 3**).

The X-ray diffraction patterns and percentages crystallinity of the starch samples isolated from sun-dried and machine-dried corn after storage are shown in **Figures 2.** All the starch samples showed typical A-type diffraction patterns with major 2θ peaks at 15°, 17°, 18°, and 23° (25). Starch isolated from the sun-dried corn without storage showed a higher percentage crystallinity (28.6%) than that from the machine-dried samples (27.4%). The lower percentage crystallinity of the machine-dried starch sample further supported the observation of partial-gelatinization of starch in the machine-dried corn. The percentage crystallinity of the starch increased with storage from 28.6 (0 month) to 31.9% (6 month) and 27.4 (0 month) to 28.4% (6 month) for the starch isolated from sun-dried and machine-dried samples, respectively. The increase in the percentage crystallinity of the starch suggested improved quality and increased size of crystallites of the starch after storage at 27°C and 85-90% RH (26), which differed from decreased amounts of double helices in the starch reflected by decreased gelatinization enthalpy-changes (**Table 3**). Differences in crystallinity changes between the starch samples of sun-dried and machine-dried corn will be discussed later.



Pasting properties of the starches isolated from sun-dried and machine-dried corn samples after storage are shown in **Figures 3A and B** and summarized in **Table 4.** The pasting temperature (PT) of starch isolated from dried corn stored for 0 to 6 months increased from 72.5 to 75.6 °C and 73.6 to 75.4°C for the sun-dried and machine-dried corn, respectively. The starch from sun-dried corn after 0 and 2 months of storage showed a peakviscosity range of 158.2-160.9 RVU, whereas that after 3 to 6 months of storage showed remarkable decreases in the peak viscosity to 128.5-132.5 RVU (Figure 3A and Table 4). The peak viscosity of the machine-dried starch samples gradually decreased, from 154.6 to 133.8 RVU after 0 to 6 month storage (Figure 3B). The decreases in the peak viscosity of the ground corn after storage (Figures 1A and B) were mostly related to decreases in the peak viscosity of the starch. The decreases in the peak viscosity of the ground corn samples after storage (56.7 and 55.0 RVU for sun-dried and machine-dried corn, respectively) were more pronounced than that of the isolated starch samples (25.7 and 20.8 RVU for starches of sundried and machine-dried corn, respectively), indicating that non-starch components of the grain, such as free fatty acids from lipids, which complex with starch, and disulfide bond formation of protein, also contributed to the reduced peak viscosity of the ground corn after storage.

The morphology of starch granules isolated from dried corn after storage using SEM is shown in **Figure 4**. The SEM images show increases in the number of damaged starch granules (broken granules and debris) after storage of both the sun-dried and machine-dried corn. The number of damaged starch granules was larger in the starch from sun-dried corn than that from machine-dried corn (**Figure 4**). Starches isolated from machine-dried corn showed fewer starch granules with pinholes on the surface than that from sun-dried corn after


the same period of storage (**Figure 4**). The difference was attributed to less starchhydrolyzing enzyme activities in machine-dried corn, resulting from high-temperature drying (80° C). The larger number of damaged starch granules in the starch from sun-dried corn coincided with its greater rate of enzymatic hydrolysis (**Table 2**). Damaged starch granules had more internal structures exposed, which were more susceptible to enzymatic hydrolysis (*14*). The presence of damaged-starch granules also decreased the peak viscosity of the isolated starch (**Table 4**) (*27*).

Molecular-weight distributions of the isolated starches analyzed using GPC displayed two peaks, representing amylopectin (first peak) and amylose (second peak) (Figure 5). The proportion of the second peak of starches isolated from sun-dried and machine-dried corn increased from 28.9 to 35.7% and 28.2 to 31.7%, respectively, after 0 to 6 month storage (**Table 5**). The increases in the proportion of the second peak were attributed to the hydrolysis of amylopectin molecules. The partially-hydrolyzed amylopectin molecules had smaller molecular weights, which were co-eluted with amylose and increased the size of the second peak. The hydrolysis of the amylopectin molecules was more pronounced in the starch isolated from sun-dried corn after storage than that from the machine-dried counterparts. These results confirmed that the activity of starch-hydrolyzing enzyme was reduced after machine drying at 80°C. The co-elution of the partially-hydrolyzed amylopectin molecules with amylose in the chromatogram was evident by decreases in the ratio of blue value (BV) to total-carbohydrate content (CHO) of the second peak, from 4.94 to 3.88 and 3.84 to 3.61 (**Table 5**) for the sun-dried and machine-dried starch samples, respectively, after 0 to 6 month storage of dried corn kernels. The reduction in the BV of the peak resulted from the presence of partially-hydrolyzed amylopectin molecules that were



highly branched and gave less blue-color when complexed with iodine. Furthermore, the enzymatic hydrolysis of starch molecules in the corn samples during storage reduced the structural integrity of the starch granules and resulted in a greater number of damaged starch granules after storage (**Figure 4**). The reduced molecular weight of starch after storage of corn resulted in lower viscosities as shown in **Figures 1 and 3**.

The amylopectin branch-chain length distributions of the starch isolated from the driedcorn samples after storage are shown in Figure 6 and summarized in Table 6. The amylopectin branch-chain length of the starch sample without storage showed a typical bimodal distribution, consisting of a large proportion of short A- and B1-chains (DP 6-24) (15, 28). The branch-chain length distribution profiles of starch isolated from sun-dried corn showed obvious increases in DP 22 to 32 and decreases in the long branch-chains (DP 40-60) after 3 month storage (Figures 6A-6E). After 6 months of storage of sun-dried corn, the percentage of long branch-chains (DP>36) of amylopectin decreased from 12.1 to 8.8% and the percentage of intermediate branch-chains (DP 25-36) increased from 9.8 to 11.9%. Starch isolated from the machine-dried corn samples did not show any obvious changes in branchchain length distribution before 4 months of storage (Figures 6F-6J). The decrease in the percentage of long branch-chains was more pronounced in the starch isolated from sun-dried corn (12.1 to 8.8% after 6 months of storage) than that from the machine-dried counterparts (12.7 to 10.7%) (Table 6). The results of decreases in long branch-chains of amylopectin after storage were in agreement with the findings of Patindol et al (12). The changes in amylopectin branch-chain length distributions of isolated starch samples were attributed to the enzymatic hydrolysis of starch that took place during storage as previously suggested (29, 30). Alpha-amylase attacked the amorphous region of amylopectin, which consists of long



branch-chains, and hydrolyzed the long branch-chains to intermediate chain-length. Reduction in the molecular weight of starch has been reported to accelerate crystallization of starch and increase the resistant starch content (*31*). The reduced proportion of long branchchains of amylopectin and smaller starch molecules in sun-dried corn after storage facilitated crystallization of starch. Thus, the percentage crystallinity of the sun-dried starch increased from 28.6 to 31.9% after 6 months of storage, which was substantially greater than the machine-dried counterparts (27.4 to 28.4%) (**Figure 3**). Tester and Morrison reported that hydrolysis of amylopectin by both enzymatic and chemical treatments decreased the starch swelling power (*32, 33*). Accordingly, the enzymatic hydrolysis of starch molecules after storage of corn (**Table 6**) resulted in lower peak viscosity of the isolated starch (**Figure 3** and **Table 4**) and ground corn samples (**Figure 1**).

CONCLUSION

Storage of sun-dried and machine-dried corn kernels at 27°C and 85-90% relative humidity for up to 6 months altered structures and functions of their starch. Starch hydrolysis rate and peak viscosity of the ground corn decreased with storage. The decreases in the peak viscosity of the ground corn were partially attributed to the decreases in the peak viscosity of the starch. The gelatinization temperature, pasting temperature, and percentage crystallinity of the isolated starch increased with the storage of the corn. Numbers of damaged starch granules and starch granules with pinholes increased and the molecular weight of starch and percentage of long branch-chains of amylopectin decreased with storage of corn, indicating starch hydrolysis taking place during the storage of corn. Starch isolated from sun-dried corn



after storage displayed greater levels of enzymatic hydrolysis than that from the machinedried samples, suggesting more amylase activities remaining in the corn samples after sundrying at 35°C than machine-drying at 80°C.

LITERATURE CITED

- 1. Abera, S.; Sudip, K. R. Effect of dry cassava chip storage on yield and functional properties of extracted starch. *Starch/Stärke* **2004**, 56, 232-240.
- Galliard, T. Hydrolytic and oxidative degradation of lipids during storage of whole meal flour: Effects of bran and germ components. *J. Cereal Sci.* 1986, 4, 179-192.
- Pomeranz, Y. Biochemical, functional, and nutritive changes during storage. In *Storage* of *Cereal Grains and Their Products*. 4th Ed. D.B Sauer, AACC International; St Paul, MN. 1992; pp 145-215
- Hayfa, S.; Copeland, L. Effect of storage on fat acidity and pasting characteristics of wheat flour. *Cereal Chem.* 2007, 84, 600-606.
- 5. Hasjim, J.; Lee, S.; Hendrich, S.; Setiawan, S.; Ai,Y.; Jane, J. Effects of a novel resistantstarch on postprandial plasma-glucose and insulin responses. *Cereal Chem. (In press).*
- Chrastil, J. Chemical and physicochemical changes of rice during storage. *J. Cereal Sci.* 1990, 11, 71–85.
- Chrastil, J. Chemical and physicochemical changes of rice during storage at different temperatures. J. Cereal Sci. 1990a, 11, 71-85
- Chrastil, J.; Zarins, Z. M. Infuence of storage on peptide subunit composition or rice oryzenin. J. Agric. Food Chem. 1992, 40, 927-930.



- Chrastil, J. Effect of storage on the physicochemical properties of and quality factors of rice, in *Rice Science and Technology* (Eds. W.E. Marshall, J. I. Wadsworth) Marcel-Dekker, New York, NY, 49-81. 1994.
- Chrastil, J. Influence of storage on enzyme in rice grains. J Agric. Food Chem. 1990, 38, 1198-202.
- Campas-Baypoli, O.N.; Rosas-Burgos, E.C.; Torres-Chávez, P.I.; Ramírez-Wong, B.; Serna-Saldívar, S.O. Physicochemical changes of starch during maize tortilla production. *Starch/Stärke* 1999, 51, 173–177.
- Patindol, J.; Wang, Y-W.; Jane. J. Structure-functionality changes in starch following rough rice storage. *Starch/Stärke* 2005, 57, 197-207.
- 13. Li, L.; Jiang, H.; Campbell, M.; Blanco, M.; Jane, J. Characterization of maize amyloseextender (ae) mutant starches. Part I: Relationship between resistant starch contents and molecular structures. *Carbohydr. Polym.* 2008, 74, 396-404.
- 14. Hasjim, J.; Srichuwong, S.; Scott, M, P.; Jane, J. Kernel composition, starch structure, and enzyme digestibility of *opaque-2* corn and quality protein corn. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* 2009, *57*, 2049–2055.
- Jane, J.; Chen, Y.Y.; Lee, L. F.; McPherson, A. E.; Wong, K. S.; Radosavljevic, M.; Kasemsuwan, T. Effects of amylopectin branch chain length and amylose content on the gelatinization and pasting properties of starch. *Cereal Chem.* **1999**, *76*, 629-637.
- Song, Y.; Jane, J. Characterization of barley starches of waxy, normal, and highamylose varieties. *Carbohydr. Polym.* 2000, *41*, 365-377
- 17. Jane, J.; Kasemsuwan, T.; Leas, S.; Zobel, H.; Robyt, J. F. Anthology of starch granule morphology by scanning electron microscopy. *Starch/Staerke* **1994**, *46*, 121-129.



- Yoo, S.-H.; Jane, J. Structural and physical characteristics of waxy and other wheat starches. *Carbohydr. Polym.* 2002, 49, 297-305
- 19. Dubois, M.; Gilles, K.A.; Hamilton, J.K.; Rebers, P.A.; Smith, F. Colorimetric method for determination of sugars and related substances. *Anal. Chem.* **1956**, *28*, 350-356.
- Juliano, B.O. A simplified assay for milled-rice amylose. *Cereal Sci. Today* 1971, *16*, 334-340.
- 21. Morell, M.K.; Samuel, M.S.; O'Shea, M.G. Analysis of starch structure using fluorophore-assisted carbohydrate electrophoresis. *Electrophoresis* **1998**, *19*, 2603-2611.
- 22. Schoch, T.J. Fractionation of starch by selective precipitation with butanol. *J. Amer. Chem. Soc.* **1942**, 64, 2957-2961.
- Zhou, Z.; Robards, K.; Helliwell, S.; Blanchard, C. Effect of rice storage on pasting properties of rice flour. *Food Resc. Intern.* 2003, 36,625-634.
- Tester, R. F.; Qi, X.; Karkalas, J. Hydrolysis of native starches with amylases. *Anim. Feed Sci. Tech.* 2006, 130: 39-54.
- Zobel, H. F. X-ray analysis of starch granules. In *Methods in Carbohydrate Chemistry* Eds. R. L. Whistler, R. J. Smith, & J. N. BeMiller. Academic Press, Inc. Orlando, FL. 1964; pp 109-113
- 26. Waduge, R.N.; Hoover, R.;, Vasanthan, T.;, Gao, J.; Li, J. Effect of annealing on the structure and physicochemical properties of barley starches of varying amylose content. *Food Resc. Intern.* 2006, 39 (1):59-77.
- 27. Tester, R.F. Properties of damaged starch granules: composition and swelling properties of maize, rice, pea and potato starch fractions in water at various temperatures. *Food Hydrocolloids* **1997**, 11, 293-301.



- Srichuwong, S.; Sunarti, T.C.; Mishima, T.; Isono, N.; Hisamatsu, M. Starches from different botanical sources II: Contribution of starch structure to swelling and pasting properties. *Carbohydr. Polym.* 2005, 62, 25-34.
- 29. Dhaliwal, Y. S.; Sekhon, K. S.; Nagi, H.P.S. Enzymatic activities and rheological properties of stored rice. *Cereal Chem.* **1991**, 68, 18-21.
- Awazuhara, M.; Nakagawa, A.; Yamaguchi, J.; Fujiwara. T. Distribution and characterization of enzymes causing starch degradation in rice (Orzya satia cv. Koshihikari). J. Agric. Food Chem. 2000, 48, 245-252.
- Hasjim, J.; Jane, J. Production of resistant starch by extrusion cooking of acid modified normal-maize starch. *J. Food Sci.* 2009, 74, C556-C562.
- Tester, R. F.; Morrison, W.R. Swelling and gelatinization of cereal starches. II. Waxy rice starches. *Cereal Chem.* 1990, 67, 558-563.
- Tester, R. F.; Morrison, W. R. Swelling and gelatinization of cereal starches. I. Effects of amylopectin, amylose and lipids. *Cereal Chem.* 1990, 67, 551–557.



Sample	Storage	Percentage starch hydrolysis (%)*						
	(months)	0 h	1 h	2 h	4 h	6 h	8 h	24 h
B-816 SD ¹	0	2.5 ± 0.4^{a}	45.8 ± 0.4^a	52.0 ± 1.1^a	63.8 ± 3.7^a	71.4 ± 2.4^{a}	85.4 ± 1.7^{a}	97.4 ± 1.5^{a}
	2	2.3 ± 0.6^{ab}	39.7 ± 2.5^{b}	47.8 ± 1.0^{ab}	62.7 ± 0.1^a	67.4 ± 2.5^a	78.2 ± 0.9^{b}	90.1 ± 2.6^{b}
	3	3.4 ± 0.3^{bc}	38.1 ± 0.8^b	44.0 ± 1.9^{b}	58.4 ± 0.2^{ab}	60.2 ± 0.5^{b}	65.9 ± 0.7^{c}	75.6 ± 0.6^{c}
	4	3.9 ± 0.5^{cd}	35.7 ± 1.8^{bc}	43.6 ± 2.3^{b}	56.6 ± 0.1^{b}	59.9 ± 0.9^{b}	65.3 ± 0.9^{c}	74.3 ± 2.6^{c}
	6	4.4 ± 0.3^{d}	33.8 ± 1.2^{c}	43.9 ± 2.8^{b}	55.8 ± 1.1^{b}	57.9 ± 1.3^{b}	$63.5\pm1.1^{\rm c}$	74.1 ± 0.9^{c}
Least Significant Differences (LSD)		0.92	4.84	5.73	5.45	5.16	3.32	5.34
$B-816 \text{ MD}^2$	0	$1.8\pm0.5^{\rm a}$	43.7 ± 0.2^{a}	52.4 ± 0.9^a	62.1 ± 0.3^a	72.3 ± 1.8^{a}	80.6 ± 1.4^{a}	94.9 ± 0.8^{a}
	2	$1.6\pm0.8^{\rm a}$	38.0 ± 2.1^{b}	48.9 ± 1.9^{ab}	57.3 ± 1.1^{b}	65.6 ± 0.9^{b}	72.3 ± 1.3^{b}	$82.8\pm1.3^{\text{b}}$
	3	2.4 ± 0.6^a	36.8 ± 0.7^{b}	43.4 ± 0.3^{bc}	55.4 ± 0.2^{b}	58.8 ± 0.8^{c}	$66.1\pm0.5^{\rm c}$	77.3 ± 2.1^{c}
	4	1.8 ± 1.3^{a}	35.1 ± 0.6^{b}	41.9 ± 0.9^{c}	$49.7\pm1.9^{\rm c}$	56.8 ± 2.9^{c}	$65.8\pm0.8^{\rm c}$	76.4 ± 1.9^{c}
	6	2.1 ± 1.2^{a}	35.2 ± 1.7^{b}	41.3 ± 2.1^{c}	49.4 ± 1.1^{c}	56.4 ± 1.8^{c}	61.9 ± 0.3^{d}	76.9 ± 0.4^{c}
Least Significant Differences (LSD)		3.50	3.72	5.94	3.32	4.65	3.55	5.36

Table 1. Starch digestibility of finely-ground (<0.5mm particle size) sun-dried and machine-dried corn after 0 to 6</th>months of storage at 27°C and 85-90%RH

²MD: Machine-dried

*Percentage starch hydrolysis is measured on the basis of glucose production after hydrolysis divided by the initial starch weight in dry basis.



Commla	Storage	Percentage starch hydrolysis (%)*							
Sample	(months)	0 h	1 h	2 h	4 h	6 h	8 h	24 h	
B-816SD ¹	0	2.4 ± 0.2^{a}	32.6 ± 1.1^{a}	44.1 ± 1.6^{a}	60.3 ± 1.4^{a}	$70.7\pm1.3^{\rm a}$	77.2 ± 1.3^{a}	99.3 ± 1.5^{a}	
	2	3.3 ± 0.6^{ab}	$34.6\pm1.3^{\rm a}$	$45.6\pm1.3^{\rm a}$	60.1 ± 1.8^{a}	71.7 ± 1.5^{ab}	78.9 ± 0.9^{ab}	96.0 ± 1.6^{a}	
	3	2.8 ± 0.6^{cb}	37.4 ± 0.8^{ab}	48.1 ± 1.8^{ab}	61.1 ± 1.3^{a}	72.5 ± 1.6^{ab}	80.7 ± 1.3^{bc}	98.0 ± 1.7^{a}	
	4	4.6 ± 0.2^{c}	39.4 ± 1.1^{bc}	51.4 ± 0.6^{b}	64.0 ± 1.4^{a}	73.5 ± 0.9^{ab}	83.1 ± 1.2^{cd}	$97.1\pm1.8^{\rm a}$	
	6	5.1 ± 0.3^{c}	$40.4\pm0.7^{\rm c}$	52.4 ± 1.2^{b}	64.9 ± 2.1^a	74.4 ± 1.1^{ab}	84.9 ± 1.9^{d}	$98.5\pm1.1^{\rm a}$	
Least Significant Differences		1.48	3.94	4.95	5.53	4.14	3.76	5.68	
B-816MD ²	0	0.8 ± 0.3^{a}	34.2 ± 0.6^a	47.5 ± 0.5^{a}	$63.4\pm1.6^{\rm a}$	73.1 ± 1.3^{a}	79.1 ± 1.4^{a}	96.9 ± 0.9^a	
	2	0.6 ± 0.1^{a}	33.4 ± 0.6^a	45.0 ± 0.8^{ab}	61.0 ± 0.3^{a}	70.7 ± 0.4^{ab}	78.4 ± 1.3^{a}	94.3 ± 1.3^a	
	3	1.1 ± 0.3^{a}	34.2 ± 0.7^a	44.3 ± 1.4^{ab}	62.6 ± 0.9^{a}	72.4 ± 1.3^{ab}	79.5 ± 1.9^{a}	96.7 ± 0.4^a	
	4	0.9 ± 0.2^{a}	33.2 ± 1.2^{a}	43.3 ± 1.3^{b}	58.6 ± 1.1^{b}	69.7 ± 0.9^{ab}	76.6 ± 1.4^{a}	93.2 ± 1.3^a	
	6	1.2 ± 0.4^{a}	32.5 ± 0.8^{a}	44.6 ± 0.9^{ab}	58.8 ± 0.8^{b}	69.5 ± 1.1^{b}	75.6 ± 1.5^{a}	94.4 ± 1.5^a	
Least Significant		1.01	2.73	3.81	3.60	4.06	4.41	2.53	

Table 2. Enzymatic hydrolysis of starch isolated from sun-dried and machine-dried corn after 0 to 6 months of storage at27°C and 85-90%RH

Differences

²MD: Machine-dried

*Percentage starch hydrolysis is measured on the basis of glucose production after hydrolysis divided by the initial starch weight in dry basis.



Sample	Storage	$T_{\alpha}(^{0}C)$	$T_{n}(^{\circ}C)$	$T_{c}(^{\circ}C)$	ΔH (J/g)	
	(months)	10(C)	1p(C)	n (C)		
$B-816SD^1$	0	$68.74\pm0.21^{\texttt{a}}$	74.59 ± 0.12^{a}	80.71 ± 0.28^a	13.21 ± 0.42^a	
	2	70.45 ± 0.17^b	75.71 ± 0.34^{b}	81.97 ± 0.28^{bc}	13.62 ± 0.23^a	
	3	$71.25\pm0.13_{c}$	75.31 ± 0.26^{ab}	82.42 ± 0.13^c	11.37 ± 0.33^{b}	
	4	$71.32\pm0.22^{\rm c}$	76.02 ± 0.35^{b}	81.92 ± 0.33^{bc}	10.91 ± 0.22^{b}	
	6	71.21 ± 0.33^{c}	75.88 ± 0.12^{b}	81.33 ± 0.42^{ab}	10.54 ± 0.28^{b}	
Least Significant Differences (LSD)		0.69	0.86	0.90	0.95	
B-816MD ²	0	$68.76\pm0.02^{\rm a}$	$74.82\pm0.12^{\rm a}$	80.31 ± 0.06^a	12.28 ± 0.22^{a}	
	2	69.35 ± 0.19^{ab}	75.22 ± 0.24^{b}	80.85 ± 0.17^{ab}	12.06 ± 0.03^{ab}	
	3	70.48 ± 0.08^{b}	76.02 ± 0.15^{c}	81.49 ± 0.22^{bc}	11.58 ± 0.17^{b}	
	4	71.68 ± 0.06^{c}	75.75 ± 0.22^{c}	82.11 ± 0.36^c	10.85 ± 0.24^{c}	
	6	71.95 ± 0.19^{c}	75.88 ± 0.24^{c}	82.42 ± 0.53^c	10.71 ± 0.38^{c}	
Least Significant Differences (LSD)		1.04	0.55	1.00	0.61	

Table 3. Thermal properties of starch isolated from sun-dried and machine-dried corn after 0 to 6 months of storage at27°C and 85-90%RH

²MD: Machine-dried



Sample	Storage (months)	Pasting Temperature (°C)	Peak Viscosity (RVU)	Break Down (RVU)	Setback (RVU)	Final Viscosity (RVU)
B-816SD ¹	0	72.5 ± 0.4^{a}	158.2 ± 2.3^a	$60.1\pm1.3^{\rm a}$	84.7 ± 0.4^{a}	$183.2\pm2.2^{\rm a}$
	2	74.1 ± 0.1^{b}	160.9 ± 0.5^{a}	58.9 ± 0.3^{a}	86.0 ± 0.2^{b}	$184.2\pm1.3^{\rm a}$
	3	75.1 ± 0.4^{bc}	128.5 ± 0.3^{b}	30.7 ± 0.5^{b}	$78.9\pm0.5^{\rm c}$	177.9 ± 0.8^{b}
	4	74.8 ± 0.2^{bc}	131.3 ± 1.4^{b}	27.6 ± 1.3^{b}	78.6 ± 0.1^{c}	$177.5\pm1.3^{\rm b}$
	6	75.6 ± 0.5^{c}	132.5 ± 0.3^{b}	$28.4\pm1.8_{b}$	79.2 ± 0.4^{c}	$178.4 \pm 1.1^{\rm b}$
Least Significant Differences (LSD)		1.28	4.24	3.89	1.27	4.78
B-816MD ²	0	73.6 ± 0.4^{a}	154.6 ± 1.3^{a}	$59.3\pm1.6^{\rm a}$	117.3 ± 1.4^{a}	$212.4\pm1.8^{\rm a}$
	2	$74.5\pm0.2^{\rm a}$	$156.5\pm1.2^{\rm a}$	$60.2\pm1.8^{\rm a}$	112.4 ± 1.7^{b}	$211.3\pm1.3^{\rm a}$
	3	74.1 ± 0.5^{a}	144.8 ± 0.9^{b}	42.3 ± 0.9^{b}	$92.8 \pm 1.1^{\rm c}$	193.8 ± 0.9^{b}
	4	74.7 ± 0.6^{ab}	136.8 ± 1.0^{b}	38.7 ± 2.9^{b}	$78.1\pm1.4~^{\rm d}$	$173.8\pm0.9^{\rm c}$
	6	75.4 ± 0.7^{b}	133.8 ± 1.2^{b}	39.9 ± 1.4^b	76.3 ± 0.9^{d}	170.4 ± 1.9^{c}
Least Significant Differences (LSD)		1.47	4.06	4.79	4.38	5.29

Table 4. Pasting properties of starch isolated from sun-dried and machine-dried corn after 0 to 6 months of storage at27°C and 85-90%RH

²MD: Machine-dried

*The sample was kept under constant stirring at 160 rpm during analysis



	Storage	A merile mantin first mark	Amerilana (an and mask	
Sample	(months)	(%)	(%)	BV: CHO of 2 nd peak*
$B-816 SD^1$	816 SD ¹ 0 71.1 ± 0.4^{a}		$28.9\pm0.4^{\rm a}$	4.94 ± 0.01^{a}
	2	69.4 ± 0.4^{b}	30.6 ± 0.4^{b}	4.40 ± 0.04^{b}
	3	$67.5\pm0.0^{\circ}$	$32.5\pm0.0^{\rm c}$	$4.21 \pm 0.02^{\circ}$
	4	64.4 ± 0.4^{d}	35.6 ± 0.4^{d}	$4.12\pm0.02^{\rm c}$
	6	64.3 ± 0.3^{d}	35.7 ± 0.3^{d}	$3.88\pm0.03^{\text{d}}$
Least Significant Differences (LSD)		1.23	1.23	0.09
B-816MD ²	0	$71.8\pm0.2^{\rm a}$	$28.2\pm0.2^{\rm a}$	3.84 ± 0.01^{ab}
	2	70.8 ± 0.1^{b}	29.1 ± 0.1^{b}	3.86 ± 0.01^{a}
	3	69.9 ± 0.3^{bc}	30.1 ± 0.3^{bc}	3.82 ± 0.04^{ab}
	4	69.3 ± 0.4^{c}	30.6 ± 0.4^{c}	3.74 ± 0.03^{b}
	6	68.2 ± 0.1^{d}	31.7 ± 0.1^{d}	$3.61 \pm 0.05^{\circ}$
Least Significant Differences (LSD)		0.89	0.89	0.11

Table 5. Molecular weight distribution of starch isolated from sun-dried and machine-dried corn after 0 to 6 months of storage at 27°C and 85-90%RH measured using gel permeation chromatography (GPC)

*Blue value to total carbohydrate ratio of amylose peak calculated using normalized amylopectin peak

¹SD: Sun-dried

²MD: Machine-dried



Sample	Storage	Branch-chain length distribution (%)						
Sample	(months)	6-12	13-24	25-36	>36			
B-816SD ¹	0	25.4 ± 0.2^{a}	52.8 ± 0.1^{ab}	9.8 ± 0.1^{a}	$12.1\pm0.4^{\text{a}}$			
	2	24.7 ± 0.4^{b}	53.1 ± 0.7^{a}	$9.6\pm0.5^{\rm a}$	11.7 ± 0.1^{a}			
	3	25.8 ± 0.2^{b}	51.3 ± 0.8^{ab}	10.4 ± 0.1^{a}	10.4 ± 0.5^{b}			
	4	26.3 ± 0.2^{bc}	51.2 ± 0.3^{b}	10.3 ± 0.3^{a}	9.8 ± 0.3^{bc}			
	6	27.3 ± 0.1^{c}	51.4 ± 0.4^{ab}	11.9 ± 0.4^{b}	$8.8\pm0.1^{\rm c}$			
Least Significant Differences (LSD)		0.95	1.76	1.17	1.17			
B-816MD ²	0	24.8 ± 0.2^{abc}	$52.8\pm0.2^{\rm a}$	9.6 ± 0.1^a	12.7 ± 0.2^{a}			
	2	24.6 ± 0.4^{ab}	52.7 ± 0.3^a	$9.9\pm0.5^{\rm a}$	12.6 ± 0.4^{a}			
	3	24.2 ± 0.4^a	53.1 ± 0.4^{a}	9.7 ± 0.1^{a}	11.8 ± 0.2^{ab}			
	4	25.7 ± 0.5^{bc}	52.1 ± 0.6^a	10.6 ± 0.3^{a}	10.8 ± 0.4^{b}			
	6	25.9 ± 0.1^{c}	52.3 ± 0.5^a	$10.5\pm0.4^{\rm a}$	10.7 ± 0.3^{b}			
Least Significant Differences (LSD)		1.28	1.37	1.16	1.13			

Table 6. Amylopectin branch-chain length distribution of starch isolated from sun-dried and machine-dried corn samples after 0 to 6 months of storage at 27°C and 85-90%RH

*Maximum detectable chain length – DP 75-76 ¹SD: Sun-dried

²MD: Machine-dried





Figure 1. Pasting profiles of finely-ground (<0.5mm particle size) **A**) sun-dried and **B**) machine-dried corn after 0 to 6 months of storage at 27°C and 85-90%RH





Figure 2. X-ray diffraction pattern of starches isolated from **A**) sun-dried and **B**) machinedried corn after 0 to 6 months of storage at 27°C and 85-90%RH *Number in parentheses showed the percentage crystallinity of the corresponding isolated

*Number in parentheses showed the percentage crystallinity of the corresponding isolated starch samples





Figure 3. Pasting profiles of isolated starch from **A**) sun-dried and **B**) machine-dried corn after 0 to 6 months of storage at 27°C and 85-90%RH





Figure 4. Scanning electron micrographs (1500X) of isolated starches. A-E, starch isolated from sun-dried corn after storage for A) 0, B) 2, C) 3, D) 4, and E) 6 months. F-J, starch isolated from machine-dried corn after storage for F) 0, G) 2, H) 3, I) 4, and J) 6 months at 27°C and 85-90%RH.





Figure 4. Continued





Figure 5. GPC profiles of isolated starches. **A-E**, starch isolated from sun-dried corn after storage for **A**) 0, **B**) 2, **C**) 3, **D**) 4, and **E**) 6 months. **F-J**, starch isolated from machine-dried corn after storage for **F**) 0, **G**) 2, **H**) 3, **I**) 4, and **J**) 6 months at 27°C and 85-90%RH.





Figure 5. Continued





المنسارات





CHAPTER 4. METHODS TO IMPROVE NUTRITIONAL VALUES OF CASSAVA FLOUR FOR ANIMAL FEED

Stephen Setiawan¹, Hany Widjaya², Vinai Rhakpongpairoj², Jay-lin Jane¹ ¹Department of Food Science and Human Nutrition, Iowa State University, Ames, IA 50011 ²Charoen Pokphand Indonesia, Jakarta Utara 14430, Jakarta, Indonesia

ABSTRACT

The long-term objective of this study was to produce cassava-based feed that has a similar starch digestive rate and nutritional value to corn-based feed. Dietary oils (palm oil, soybean oil, and corn oil), Distiller's Dry Grain with Solubles (DDGS), and defatted soybean-meal (SBM) were used to modify the starch properties of cassava flour. Addition of 6% (v/w) dietary oils to the cassava flour followed by a heat-moisture treatment (HMT) at 100°C for 1 h reduced starch digestive rate of the cassava flour from 73.4 to 62.8, 61.6, and 56.4% after 8 h hydrolysis for palm oil, soybean oil, and corn oil, respectively. The Distiller's Dry Grain with Solubles (DDGS) substitution followed by HMT at 100°C for 1 h reduced the starch digestive rate of the cassava flour from 80.3 to 78.3, 74.1, and 72.0% after 8 h hydrolysis for 10, 20, and 30% (w/w) DDGS substitution, respectively. The cassava flour treated with defatted soybean meal (SBM), however, showed no substantial decrease in starch digestive rate. Increases in initial moisture content (IMC) of the cassava flour-blends from 18.1-20.7% to 26.1-28.0% prior to HMT at 100°C increased the starch digestive rate of the cassava flour-blends. Increase in heating temperature of HMT from 100 to 120°C for



cassava-flour blends with 11.9-12.4% moisture resulted in less reduction in the starch digestive rate of the cassava flour.

INTRODUCTION

Cassava flour obtained by grinding dried cassava root is one of the major sources for food in Southeast Asia and Africa countries. Cassava flour contains a relatively high starch content (65-70%, db), but low in lipids (0.1-0.3%, db) and protein (1-3%, db) comparing with maize and sorghum (*1*). Starch of cassava flour has a greater digestive rate than that of ground maize and sorghum (*2*). Starch with a greater digestive rate can be converted to glucose quickly and elevates plasma glucose level when other nutrients are not yet absorbed. The rapid elevation in plasma glucose level hinders amino acids absorption in the small intestine (*3*). The unabsorbed amino acids in the small intestine may trigger *dieresis*, a mechanism of eliminating excess electrolytes, body nitrogen, and toxin by increasing water consumption and flushing these compounds from the body (4). *Weurding et al* reported that chickens fed diets containing highly digestible starch (tapioca starch) had less body weight gain and feed conversion ratio (FCR) than chickens fed with diet containing slowly digestible starch (pea starch) (*5*). The fast production of glucose from starch may also cause an osmotic pressure change and contribute to diarrhea symptoms.

Dietary oils (palm, corn, and soybean oil) and Distiller's Dry Grain with Solubles (DDGS) have been used in the feed industry to improve feed quality (*6-8*). DDGS is a coproduct of ethanol fermentation using dry-grind corn. DDGS is composed of nonfermentable components of the original grain, namely protein, lipids, and fiber. This product is relatively



inexpensive because of a large supply in the market. In 2006, approximately 10 million metric tons of DDGS was produced (9). Many applications of this byproduct, including bioplastics (10) and human food additives (11), have been developed in addition to feed supplement.

Soybean meal is commonly used in animal feed since early 1940's (12). The main reason for the use of soybean meal in animal feed is its unique amino acid compositions that complement the deficiencies in amino acids, such as lysine and tryptophan, in cereal grains (13, 14). This excellent source of protein, however, has deficiencies in mineral content, such as calcium and phosphorus. Raw soybean meal contains anti-nutritional factors, such as trypsin and chymotrpysin inhibitor, that decrease protein digestion and absorption (15). A proper heating treatment is necessary to inactivate these anti-nutritional factors prior to incorporating soybean meal into an animal diet (16, 17). The percentage of soybean meal incorporated in the animal diet depends on the nutritional requirement and the growth stage of animal (18, 19).

Heat moisture treatment (HMT) is a common physical method used to modify starch properties (*20*, *21*). It involves incubation of the starch at 30% (db) moisture, and high temperatures (84-120°C) (*22*). In this study, we added dietary oils (palm oil, soybean oil, and corn oil), DDGS, or defatted soybean meal (SBM) to cassava flour followed by heatmoisture treatment (HMT) to reduce the starch digestive rate. The objective of this study was to produce cassava-based feed that has a nutritional value similar to corn-based feed.

MATERIALS AND METHODS



Materials

Dried cassava chip and coarsely-ground maize (B-16) used in this study were obtained from Charoen Pokphand (Jakarta, Indonesia). Two batches of dried cassava chip were received in 2008 and 2009. The 2008 crop of dried cassava chip was used in the study with dietary oils, and the 2009 crop was used for processing with DDGS and SBM. Dried cassava chip was ground using a commercial coffee grinder (Krups, Shelton, CT) to produce cassava flour (CA). Dietary oils (palm oil (PO), soybean oil (SO), corn oil (CO)) were obtained from The Center for Crops Utilization Research (CCUR, Ames, IA). The fatty acid compositions and free fatty-acid contents of the dietary oils used in this study are listed in **Table 1**. DDGS (10.3% lipids and 22.1% protein, db) was obtained from Dr. Charles Hurburgh of Grain Quality Laboratory (GQL, Ames, IA). SBM (1.7% lipids and 47.5% protein, db) was provided by Charoen Pokphand (Jakarta, Indonesia). Porcine pancreatic α -amylase (PPA) and glucoamylase (GA) from *Aspergillus niger* were purchased from Sigma Aldrich Corporation (St. Louis, MO). Glucose assay kits (GOPOD format, Catalog: K-GLUC) were purchased from Megazyme International (Wicklow, Ireland).

Dietary oil compositions

Fatty acid compositions of the dietary oils were analyzed following the method of Hammond (23). Oil aliquots (2 ml) were converted to fatty acid methyl esters (FAME) by reacting the oil with 1 M sodium methoxide at 40°C for 1 h. The FAME were analyzed by gas chromatography using a Hewlett-Packard 5890 Series II chromatograph with a flame ionization detector and split/splitless injector. The GC column used in this study was 15 m with a 0.25 mm x 0.2 µm film of SP-2230 (Supelco, Bellefonte, PA). Temperatures used



during chromatographic analysis were 230°C for injector temperature, 230°C for detector temperature, and the oven temperature increased from 150 to 180°C at 5°C/min with no holding time. The rates of carrier and auxiliary gas (He) were set at 5.4 and 19.4 ml/min, respectively. The hydrogen flow was at 13.9 ml/min, and air flow at 42.6 ml/min. The FAME composition was expressed as uncorrected relative area percentages of the detector output. The free fatty acid contents (FFA) of dietary oils used in this study were determined using AOAC method 940.28 (*24*).

Sample preparations:

Cassava flour-oil blends: Cassava flour (10 g, 11.16% moisture content, db) was mixed with 6% (v/w) of each of the dietary oils. The mixture was blended thoroughly in a flatbottom container using a stirrer in a water-bath at 50°C. Each mixture was transferred into a sealed container and heated at 100°C using a convection oven (Isotemp@Oven Model 655F, Fisher Scientific, Chicago) for 1 h. The same method was used to prepare mixtures of isolated cassava starch (CAS, moisture content 6.71%, db) and dietary oils.

Cassava flour-DDGS blends: Cassava flour (100 g, 13.2% moisture content db) was thoroughly mixed with DDGS at different proportions (10, 20, and 30% of total weight, w/w) in a zip-lock plastic bag. The moisture content of the mixture was adjusted by spraying a predetermined amount of distilled water to the sample, mixed, and equilibrated overnight. Three different initial moisture contents (IMC) were used (12.4, 18.1, and 26.1%, db). Each mixture was transferred into a sealed container and heated at three different temperatures (80, 100, and 120°C) using the same convection oven for 1 h.



Cassava flour-SBM-oil blends: Cassava flour (100 g, 13.2% moisture content, db) was thoroughly mixed with SBM at different proportions (5, 10, 15, and 30% of total weight, w/w) in a zip-lock plastic bag. Approximately 10g of the cassava flour-SBM mixture (moisture content 10.4%) was blended thoroughly in a flat-bottom container with corn oil at different proportions (1.5, 3, and 6% v/w of cassava flour). Three different initial moisture contents (IMC) were used (13.7, 20.7, and 28.0%, db). Each mixture was heated at 100°C using the same convection oven for 1 h.

Particle size distribution of samples

Each of the samples was sieved using U.S.A Standard Testing Sieves (Fisher Scientific, U.S) with sieves numbers: 30 (0.6 mm), 50 (0.3 mm), 140 (0.1 mm), and 270 (0.05 mm). The series of sieve were shaken using Ro-Tap Sieves Shaker (CE Tyler Corporation, U.S) for 10 minutes. Particle-size distributions of the samples were determined using a gravimetric method.

Starch digestibility

Starch digestibility of each sample was analyzed following the method of *Hasjim et al* (25) with modifications. Cassava flour, cassava flour-blends, or ground corn samples (containing 200 mg of starch, db) were suspended in a phosphate buffer solution (20 ml, 0.02 M, pH 6.9, containing 0.25 mM CaCl₂) and equilibrated at 40°C for 1 h. One ml of a PPA solution (200 units/g of starch) was added to the suspension. Enzyme hydrolysis was carried out at 40°C, and aliquots (0.2 ml) of the hydrolysate were withdrawn at different time intervals. The aliquots were centrifuged at 6059 *g* for 5 minutes, and the supernatant was



collected and diluted with a sodium acetate buffer solution (0.02 M, pH 4.5). Glucoamylase (10 units) was added to the supernatant, and the hydrolysis was carried out at 50°C for 2 h. The glucose content of the hydrolysate was determined using Glucose assay kits (GOPOD format). The analysis was done in duplicate. Percentage starch hydrolysis (%) was calculated using the following equation:

Percentage starch hydrolysis(%) =
$$\frac{\text{Glucose content} \times 0.9}{\text{Initial starch weight (dry basis)}}$$

Thermal properties of starch samples

Thermal properties of the isolated cassava starch samples (CAS) and that treated with dietary oils were analyzed using a differential scanning calorimeter (DSC) (DSC-7, Perkin-Elmer, Norwalk, CT) (26). Each starch sample (around 2 mg, db) was precisely weighed in an aluminum pan and deionized water (6µl) was added. The mixture was sealed in the aluminum pan and allowed to equilibrate at the room temperature (22-24°C) for 1 hour. The sample was heated from 10°C to 110°C at a rate of 10°C/minute, cooled down from 110°C to 10°C at a rate of 40°C/minutes, and re-heated at the same rate as the first scan. An empty pan was used as the reference and indium was used as a reference standard. The analysis was done in duplicate.

Nile Red Staining-Light Microscopy of starch samples

Stock solution of Nile red dye (500 μ g/ml) in acetone was prepared and stored in a brown bottle to avoid light exposure. Approximately 10 μ g of isolated cassava starch (CAS) sample and that treated with dietary oil were mixed with 500 μ l of the stock Nile-red solution and



500 μl of deionized water. The mixture was allowed to equilibrate overnight at room temperature (22-24°C) with no light exposure. The mixture was then centrifuged at 6059 *g* for 20 minutes to remove excess dye. Starch samples were then sprinkled on a glass slide (75mm x 25mm), and glycerol-water solution (50:50) was used as a medium. Samples were observed promptly using a Nikon Labophot Series Microscope (Frank. E. Fryer. Co, Edina, MN) equipped with a digital camera (Infinity-3, Lumenera Corporation, Minneapolis, MN). Digital images were captured at 400X magnification using imaging software (Infinity ANALYZE version 4.5.0)

Solubility and swelling power of starch samples

The solubility and swelling power of starch were analyzed following the method of Srichuwong et al (27). Isolated cassava starch (CAS) and that treated with dietary oil samples were made into a suspension (1%, w/v) of 5 ml of deionized water. Each suspension was heated in a water bath at 50°C for 40 minutes with agitation. After incubation, each suspension was centrifuged at 6059 *g* for 20 minutes. The supernatant was collected and analyzed using phenol-sulfuric acid method (28) to determine total soluble sugar. The experiment was repeated at 60°C incubation temperature. The precipitate was weighed to determine the weight of the swollen starch. The analysis was done in duplicate. The percentage solubility and swelling power were calculated using the following equations: Solubility = Total weight of glucose x 0.9 / weight of sample x 100%

Swelling power = $\frac{\text{weight of swollen granules x 100}}{\text{weight of the dry sample x (100 - % solubility)}}$



Statistical Analysis

Mean values of the solubility and swelling power of starch treated with dietary oils were analyzed using analysis of variance (ANOVA) with the General Linear Model procedure in SAS version 9.1 (SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, NC). Differences were evaluated by t-test using Tukey's adjustment. The significance level was set at p -value < 0.05.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Effects of dietary oils on the starch digestive rate of cassava flour

Particle-size distributions of all the samples are shown in **Figure 1** and summarized in **Table 2**. Cassava flour consisted of a greater proportion of small particles (0.05-0.1 mm) (24.3-25.5%) than the finely-ground maize sample (0.3%). There was no change in particle size distribution observed after heat-moisture treatment (HMT) to cassava flour. The addition of dietary oils followed by HMT to the cassava flour remarkably increased the particle size of the cassava flour (**Figure 1**). Samples treated with dietary oils showed a greater proportion of large particles (0.3-0.6 mm) (49.3-60.7%) than the samples without treating with dietary oils (26.2-27.3%) (**Table 2**). The dietary-oil treatments might cause particles to adhere with each other, resulting in the greater proportion of large particles in the oil-treated cassava flour.

Starch digestive rates of cassava flour, finely-ground maize, and coarsely-ground maize comparing with oil-treated cassava flour samples are shown in **Figure 2**. HMT alone decreased starch digestive rate of the cassava flour from 76.3 to 73.4% after 8 h hydrolysis. HMT enhances interactions of starch-chains of the starch granule and improves the



crystalline structure of the starch (*20*). Thus, the HMT alone reduced the starch digestive rate of the sample. The addition of dietary oils to the cassava flour followed by HMT further decreased the starch digestive rate of the cassava flour samples. Dietary oils (6% v/w) added to the cassava flour decreased starch digestive rate from 73.4 to 63.8, 62.8, and 56.4% after 8 h hydrolysis for palm, soybean, and corn oil, respectively (**Figure 2**). Starch digestibility of isolated cassava starch (CAS) and maize starch (B-16) comparing with that of oil-treated cassava starch samples are shown in **Figure 3**. Similar to the cassava flour samples, addition of dietary oils to the isolated cassava starch decreased the starch digestive rate of the samples. Treating the isolated cassava starch with dietary oils decreased the starch digestive rate of the samples from 74.9 to 69.6, 66.7, and 60.1% after 8 h hydrolysis for palm, soybean, and corn oil, respectively. These results showed that dietary oil with greater degree of unsaturation had greater impact on reducing the starch digestive rates of both the cassava flour and the isolated cassava starch samples.

Solubility and swelling power of isolated cassava starch and that with dietary oils treatment are shown in **Table 3**. HMT alone increased the swelling power of the cassava starch from 4.42 to 5.32 and 4.48 to 5.01 for 50 and 60°C incubations, respectively. The addition of dietary oils to the cassava starch further increased the starch swelling power. Sample treated with soybean oil and HMT showed the greatest increase in starch swelling power (5.94 and 5.72% for 50 and 60°C incubations, respectively) comparing with other oil-treated samples. Increases in starch swelling power after addition of oils were previously reported (*29*). The mechanism of how dietary oils increased starch swelling power, however, was not elucidated. The solubility of cassava starch with HMT alone (CAS+HMT) was not significantly different from that of untreated cassava starch (CAS). The addition of palm oil



followed by HMT increased solubility of starch from 0.16 to 0.68% and 0.22 to 0.78% for 50°C and 60°C incubations, respectively, whereas the addition of soybean oil followed by HMT increased solubility of starch from 0.16 to 0.22% and 0.22 to 0.35% for 50 and 60°C incubations, respectively. The addition of corn oil followed by HMT, however, showed no or less impact on starch solubility of the starch samples.

Thermal properties of each of the starch samples are summarized in **Table 4**. HMT alone slightly decreased gelatinization temperatures of cassava starch samples from 65.34 to 64.63°C, 70.61 to 69.71°C, and 76.94 to 76.08°C for onset, peak, and conclusion temperatures, respectively. The addition of dietary oils to the cassava starch samples followed by HMT further decreased on the gelatinization temperatures of the samples. Decreases in onset gelatinization temperature of the HMT-treated samples were correlated with the increases in swelling power (**Table 5**) (*30*, *31*). The gelatinization enthalpy-changes of starch samples increased after dietary oils treatment (14.89-15.46 J/g) comparing with the untreated (13.75 J/g) and HMT-treated samples (14.33 J/g) (**Table 4**). There was no melting of amylose-lipid complex peak observed after the gelatinization peak, indicating no amylose-lipid complex formed resulting from the oil treatment.

Light-micrographs of the isolated cassava starch samples with and without dietary oil treatments are shown in **Figure 4**. Nile red dye bound with the hydrophobic dietary-oil and displayed a red color when viewed under the light-microscope. Cassava starch (CAS) and cassava starch with HMT alone displayed no red color (**Figures 4A and 4B**) because of the absence of oil in the sample. After dietary-oils treatments, some granules with a dense red-color stain were observed (**Figures 4C, 4D, and 4E**). Most of the oils were found coating the starch granules on the surface. Sample treated with palm oil displayed the least number of



starch granules with oil-coating (**Figure 4C**) comparing with other dietary oils (**Figures 4D and 4E**). The coating of starch by the oils could decrease the susceptibility of starch granules to enzymatic attack (*32*). These results were consistent with the results that samples treated with palm oil showed the least reduction in the starch digestive rate comparing with other oils (**Figures 2 and 3**).

Effects of Distiller's Dry Grain with Solubles (DDGS) on the starch digestive rate of cassava flour

The chemical compositions (starch, protein, lipids, and ash contents) of cassava flour, cassava flour-DDGS blends, and finely-ground maize samples are given in **Table 6**. Blending DDGS with cassava flour increased the protein and lipids contents of the cassava flour. The sample with 30% (w/w) DDGS substitution contained 3.79% lipids (db), which was similar to finely-ground maize sample (3.97%). The addition of DDGS into the cassava flour increased the protein content from 2.23 to 4.62, 7.94 and 9.07% for the blend samples containing 10, 20, and 30% DDGS, respectively.

Starch digestive rates of cassava flour and finely-ground maize (B-16) comparing with DDGS and HMT treated samples are shown in **Figure 5**. The cassava flour-DDGS blends followed by the HMT treatment showed decreases in the starch digestive rate. Similar to our previous finding, HMT alone decreased starch digestive rate of cassava flour from 83.1 to 80.3% after 8 h hydrolysis. The blending of DDGS prior to the HMT treatment further decreased the starch digestive rate from 80.3 to 78.3, 74.1, and 72.0% after 8 h hydrolysis for 10, 20, and 30% DDGS, respectively. The interactions between starch and lipids in the DDGS likely reduced the susceptibility of starch to enzyme hydrolysis as previously



suggested. From these results, we concluded that DDGS at 30% of the blends followed by HMT treatment was able to reduce the starch digestive rate of cassava flour closer to that of finely-ground maize.

Starch digestive rate of the cassava flour-30% DDGS blends with different initial moisture contents (IMC) and HMT at 100°C are shown in **Figure 6**. The increase in IMC from 12.4 to 18.1% did not show considerable changes in the starch digestive rate of the blends (72.8-73.3% after 8 h hydrolysis). Further increase in IMC of the cassava flour-30% DDGS blend to 26.1% IMC, however, caused a substantial increase in starch digestive rate (85.4%, after 8 h hydrolysis). The result indicated that starch gelatinization took place during heating of the blends with high moisture content (26.1%, db) at 100°C for 1 h. Gelatinization caused starch to lose crystallinity and became more susceptible to enzymatic hydrolysis. The increase in IMC up to 26.1% also increased the amount of undigested residue of samples from 8.7(at 12.4% IMC) to 13.7% (at 26.1% IMC), which likely resulted from retrogradation of the gelatinized starch during sample preparation.

The starch digestive rates of the cassava flour-30% DDGS blends (11.9-12.4% IMC) with and without HMT at three different temperatures (80, 100, and 120°C) are shown in **Figure 7**. The cassava flour-30% DDGS blend without HMT showed a slight reduction in starch digestive rate (82.8% after 8 h hydrolysis) comparing with the untreated cassava flour (84.3%). The cassava flour-30% DDGS blends with HMT at 80°C showed higher starch digestive rate (77.8% after 8 h hydrolysis) than the blends with HMT at 100°C (72.8%) (**Figure 7**). These results suggested that when heating at 100°C instead of 80°C, starch chains had more mobility to interact with oil in the DDGS and to further reduce the starch digestive rate. The cassava flour-30% DDGS blend with the HMT at 120°C, however, showed higher



starch digestive rate (82.6% after 8 h hydrolysis). This was a result of heating at 120°C caused partial gelatinization to the starch and increased starch susceptibility to enzyme hydrolysis. The sample treated with HMT at 120°C showed less undigested residues (3.1% reduction from the control sample) than other HMT-treated samples (7.4%-9.4%) after 24 h of hydrolysis.

Effects of defatted soybean-meal (SBM) on starch digestive rate of cassava flour.

Starch digestive rate of the cassava flour and the finely-ground maize (B-16) comparing with the cassava flour-SBM blends are shown in **Figure 8**. The cassava flour blended with SBM at different proportions followed by HMT treatment showed only slight decrease in starch digestive rate (79.1-79.8% after 8 h hydrolysis) than the untreated cassava flour (82.7%) and the cassava flour with HMT alone (80.5%) (**Figure 8**). The result showed that blending cassava flour with SBM had little impacts on starch digestive rate, which was much less than blending with DDGS at equivalent protein levels (**Figure 5**).

Addition of corn oil (CO) into the cassava flour-SBM blends further decreased the starch digestive rate (**Figure 9**). The cassava flour-15% SBM and 3% (v/w of cassava flour) added corn oil followed by HMT treatment showed lower starch digestive rate (76.7% after 8 h hydrolysis) than the untreated cassava flour (82.7%) and the cassava flour with HMT alone (80.5%). Increases in amount of corn oil addition to the cassava flour-15% SBM blends resulted in further decreases in starch digestive rate (**Figure 10**). These results further confirmed that lipids were the compound responsible for the reduction in starch digestive rate. The effect of corn oil addition, however, was substantially less than that previously found with an equivalent level of lipid addition (**Figure 1**). The SBM in the blends might


have absorbed the oil and prevent the starch of cassava flour to interact with the added corn oil, thus resulted in less reduction in the starch digestive rate of cassava flour at an equivalent lipid levels.

The effect of initial moisture content prior to HMT (IMC) on the starch digestive rate of cassava flour -15% SBM and 3% CO blends followed by HMT at 100°C are shown in **Figure 11**. An increase in IMC from 13.8 to 20.7% further decreased in starch digestive rate of the samples. The presence of additional water in the mixture plasticized the starch molecules, allowing them to interact with the oil more efficiently during treatment. Samples with IMC of 28.0%, however, showed a significant increase in starch digestive rate. Similar to our previous findings (**Figure 6**), HMT treatment of the sample with high initial moisture (28.0%) caused starch partial-gelatinization and increased the starch digestive rate of cassava flour.

CONCLUSION

The addition of dietary oils (6%, v/w) to cassava flour followed by HMT at 100°C reduced the starch digestive rate of the cassava flour. Dietary oil with greater degrees of unsaturation had greater impact on reducing starch digestive rate of the cassava flour. The DDGS substitution at 30% (w/w) followed by HMT at 100°C for 1 h reduced the starch digestive rate of the cassava flour closer to that of finely-ground maize sample (B-16). DDGS inclusion substantially increased protein and lipids contents of cassava flour blends. Increases in the initial moisture content (IMC) of the cassava flour-blends from 18.1-20.7% to 26.1-28.0% prior to HMT at 100°C increased the starch digestive rate of the cassava flour. SBM (1.7% lipids, db) substitution showed less impact on reducing the starch digestive rate



of the cassava flour than DDGS (10.3% lipids, db) at an equivalent protein levels. The results confirmed that lipids in DDGS were the compound responsible for the reduction in starch digestive rate of the cassava flour. The proposed methods required relatively simple and inexpensive processes, thus applicable for industrial application.

LITERATURE CITED

- Montagnac, J. A., Davis, C.R., Tanumihardjo, S. A. (2009). Nutritional value of cassava for use as a staple food and recent advances for improvement. *Comprehensive Reviews in Food Science and Food Safety* 8: 181-194.
- Jane, J., Ao, Z., Duvick, S. A., Wiklund, M., Yoo, S-H., Wong, K-S., Gardner. C., (2002). Structures of Amylopectin and Starch Granules: How are they synthesized? *Journal of Applied Glycoscience* 50: 167-172.
- 3. Weurding, R. E., Enting, H., Verstegen, M.W. (2003). Effect of site of starch digestion on performance of broiler chickens. *Animal Feed Science and Technology* 110: 175-84.
- Ferket, P. R. (1995). Flushing syndrome in commercial turkeys during the grow-out stage. Proceedings of Pacesetter Conference, National Turkey Federation Annual Meeting, January 10, Orlando, FL, pp.5-14
- Weurding, R. E., Enting, H., Verstegen. M.W. (2003). The relation between starch digestion rate and amino acid level for broiler chicken. *Poultry Science* 82: 279-284.
- 6. Punita, A., Chaturvedi, A. (2000). Effect of feeding crude red palm oil (*Elaeis guineensis*) and grain amaranth (*Amaranthus paniculatus*) to hens on total lipids,



cholesterol, PUFA levels and acceptability of eggs. *Plant Food for Human Nutrition* 55: 145-57.

- Cheon, Y. J., H. L. Lee, M. H. Shin, A. Jang, S. K. Lee, B. D. Lee, and C. K. Son.(2008). Effect of corn distiller's dried grains with solubles on production and egg quality in laying hens. *Asian-Australian Journal of Animal Science* 21: 1318-1323.
- Thacker, P. A., Gemunu. P. W. (2007). Nutritional Value of diets containing graded levels of wheat distillers grains with solubles fed to broiler chicks. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* 87:1386-1390.
- Cheesbrough, V., Rosentrater, K. A., & Visser, J. (2008) .Properties of distillers grains composites: A preliminary investigation. *Journal of Polymer and the Environment* 16: 40-50
- 10. Schilling, C., Tomasik, P., Karpovich, D., Hart, B., Shepardson, S., Garcha, J., Boettcher, P. (2004). Preliminary studies on converting agricultural waste into biodegradable plastics, Part 1: corn distiller's dry grain. *Journal of Polymer and the Environment* 12: 257-264.
- Rosentrater, K. A., Krishnan, P. (2006). Incorporating distiller's grain in food products. *Cereal Foods World* 51: 53-58.
- 12. Hayward, J.W. (1959). Improved feed ingredient processing. Feedstuffs 31: 18-22.
- Karr-Lilienthal, L., Grieshop, C.M., Spears, J.K., Fahey, Jr. G. (2005) Amino acid, carbohydrate, and fat composition of soybean meals prepared at 55 commercial U.S. soybean processing. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 53: 2146-2150.
- 14. Karr-Lilienthal, L., Grieshop, C.M., Merchen. R. N., Mahan, D.C., Fahey, Jr. G. (2004) Chemical composition and protein quality comparisons of soybeans and soybean meals



from five leading soybean-producing countries. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 52: 6193-6199.

- Grieshop, C.M., Fahey, Jr. G., (2001). Comparison of quality characteristics of soybeans from Brazil, China, and the United States. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 49, 2669-2673.
- 16. Aldrich, C.G., Merchen, N.R., Nelson, D.R., Barmore, J.A. (1995). The effects of roasting temperature applied to whole soybeans on site of digestion by steers: II. Protein and amino acid digestion. *Journal of animal science* 73:2131-2140.
- 17. Alonso, R., Orue, E., Marzo, F. (1998) Effects of extrusion and conventional processing methods on protein and ant nutritional factor contents in pea seeds. *Food chemistry* 63:505-512.
- Fastinger, N. D., Mahan, D.C., (2003). Effect of soybean meal particle size on amino acid and energy digestive rate in grower-finisher swine. *Journal of Animal Science* 81:697-704.
- 19. Traylor, S. L., Cromwell, G. L., Lindemann, M. D., Knabe, D.A. (2001). Effects of level of supplemental phytase on ileal digestive rate of amino acids, calcium and phosphorus in dehulled soybean meal for growing pigs. *Journal of Animal Science* 79:2634-2642.
- 20. Gunaratne, A., Hoover, R. (2002). Effect of heat-moisture treatment on the structure and physicochemical properties of tuber and root starches. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 49: 425-437
- Abraham, T.E. (1993). Stabilization of paste viscosity of cassava starch by heat-moisture treatment. *Starch/Staerke* 45: 131-135



- Hoover, R., Vasanthan, T. (1994). Effect of heat-moisture treatment on the structure and physicochemical properties of cereal, legume, and tuber starches. *Carbohydrate Research* 252:33-53.
- 23. Hammond, E.G. (1991). Organization of Rapid Analysis of Lipids in Many Individual Plants. In Linskens HF, Jackson JF (eds) Modern Methods of Plant Analysis. New Series, Volume 12, Essential Oils and Waxes. Springer-Verlag, New York, pp. 321-330.
- 24. Fatty Acids (Free) in Crude and Refined Oils. AOAC Int. 940.28. National Cottonseed Products Association-AOAC.
- 25. Hasjim, J., Srichuwong, S., Scott, M.P., Jane, J. (2009). Kernel composition, starch structure, and enzyme digestibility of *opaque-2* corn and quality protein corn. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 57: 2049–2055.
- Song, Y., Jane, J.L. (2000). Characterization of barley starches of waxy, normal, and high amylose varieties. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 41:365-377.
- 27. Srichuwong, S., Sunarti, T.C., Mishima, T., Isono, N., Hisamatsu, M. (2005). Starches from different botanical sources I: Contribution of amylopectin fine structure to thermal properties and enzyme digestibility. *Carbohydrate Polymers* 60: 529-538.
- Dubois, M., Gilles, K.A., Hamilton, J.K., Rebers, P. A., Smith, F. (1956). Colorimetric method for determination of sugars and related substances. *Analytical. Chemistry* 28:350-356.
- 29. Navarro, A.S., Martino, M.N., Zaritzky, N.E. (1996). Modeling of Rheological Behavior in Starch-Lipid Systems. *Lebensm.-wiss.u-technol* 29: 632-639.



- Tester, R.F., Morrison, W.R. (1990). Swelling and gelatinization of cereal starches. II.
 Waxy rice starches. *Cereal Chemistry* 67: 558-563.
- Tester, R.F., Morrison, W.R. (1990). Swelling and gelatinization of cereal starches. I.
 Effects of amylopectin, amylose and lipids. *Cereal Chemistry* 67: 551–557.
- 32. Oates, C.G. (1997). Towards an understanding of starch granules structure and hydrolysis. *Trends in Food Science and Technology* 8: 375-382.



	Fatty Acid Content (%) ^b			
Fatty Acid	Palm Oil	Soybean Oil	Corn Oil	
Palmitic Acid (16:0)	64.03 ± 0.47	11.57 ± 0.23	10.42 ± 0.16	
Stearic Acid (18:0)	6.29 ± 0.07	4.71 ± 0.05	2.16 ± 0.03	
Oleic Acid (18:1)	26.31 ± 0.27	33.53 ± 0.04	28.44 ± 0.03	
Linoleic Acid (18:2)	1.39 ± 0.07	44.91 ± 0.09	55.91 ± 0.21	

Table 1. Dietary oils (palm oil, soybean oil, corn oil) compositions used in the study

^aFree Fatty Acid content was determined by AOAC method 940.28 (23)

ND

 $17.80 \pm 0.03*$

^bFatty acid composition was determined following the method of Hammond (22)

*Free fatty acid content was expressed as percentage of free oleic acid present in the oil

 4.06 ± 0.07

 $3.51 \pm 0.02*$

 1.58 ± 0.03

 $0.16\pm0.02*$



Linolenic Acid (18:3)

Free Fatty acid^a

	Particle-size Distribution (%)			
Sample	>0.6 mm	0.3-0.6 mm	0.1-0.3 mm	0.05-0.1 mm
СА	11.0 ± 1.1	26.2 ± 0.8	37.2 ± 0.3	25.5 ± 0.6
CA+HMT*	10.4 ± 0.8	27.3 ± 1.0	38.1 ± 0.7	24.3 ± 1.1
CA+6%PO+HMT*	18.9 ± 0.6	56.9 ± 0.4	24.0 ± 0.9	0
CA+6%SO+HMT*	33.3 ± 1.3	49.3 ± 0.5	17.3 ± 0.4	0
CA+6%CO+HMT*	13.9 ± 0.4	60.7 ± 0.7	25.3 ± 1.1	0
Finely-ground maize	2.8 ± 0.3	57.1 ± 1.1	40.0 ± 0.8	0.3 ± 0.1
Coarsely- ground maize	54.3 ± 2.1	28.2 ± 0.9	17.3 ± 0.9	0.4 ± 0.1

Table 2. Particle-size distributions of cassava flour (CA), cassava flour with dietary oiladdition followed by HMT*, finely-ground maize, and coarsely-ground maize

*Heat moisture treatment (HMT) was conducted with 11.16-11.38% initial moisture content at 100°C temperature for 1 h



	50°C		60°C		
	Solubility	Swelling		Solubility	Swelling
Sample	(%)	Power		(%)	Power
CAS	0.16 ± 0.02^{a}	4.42 ± 0.29^a	-	0.23 ± 0.04^a	4.48 ± 0.05^a
CAS+HMT*	0.16 ± 0.04^{a}	5.32 ± 0.37^{b}		0.22 ± 0.01^a	5.01 ± 0.13^{ab}
CAS+6%PO+HMT*	0.68 ± 0.07^{b}	5.68 ± 0.06^{cd}		0.78 ± 0.08^{b}	5.60 ± 0.05^{cb}
CAS+6%SO+HMT*	0.22 ± 0.02^a	5.94 ± 0.37^{d}		0.35 ± 0.02^{c}	5.72 ± 0.38^{c}
CAS+6%CO+HMT*	0.14 ± 0.04^{a}	5.45 ± 0.06^{cb}		0.23 ± 0.00^a	5.69 ± 0.21^{cb}
Least Significant					
Differences (LSD)	0.106	0.224		0.105	0.738

Table 3. Solubility and swelling power of isolated cassava starch (CAS) and that with dietary

 oils addition followed by HMT *

*Heat moisture treatment (HMT) was conducted with 6.21-6.71% initial moisture content at 100°C temperature for 1 h

^a Data in the same column with different letter superscripts are significantly different (P

< 0.05)



Sample	T ₀ (° C)	T _p (° C)	T _c (° C)	ΔH (J/g)
CAS	65.34 ± 0.13	70.61 ± 0.12	76.94 ± 0.27	13.75 ± 0.31
CAS+HMT*	64.63 ± 0.17	69.71 ± 0.24	76.08 ± 0.13	14.33 ± 0.25
CAS+6%PO+HMT*	64.35 ± 0.23	68.51 ± 0.14	75.00 ± 0.19	15.46 ± 0.29
CAS+6%SO+HMT*	64.31 ± 0.01	68.45 ± 0.11	75.24 ± 0.14	14.89 ± 0.05
CAS+6%CO+HMT*	63.42 ± 0.18	68.63 ± 0.06	75.07 ± 0.08	14.99 ± 0.08

Table 4. Thermal properties of isolated cassava starch (CAS) and that with dietary oils addition followed by HMT*

*Heat moisture treatment (HMT) was conducted with 6.21-6.71% initial moisture content at 100°C temperature for 1 h



Starch gelatinization	Starch swelling power		
temperatures	50°C	60°C	
То	-0.759	-0.773	
Тр	-0.728	-0.857	
Tc	-0.940	-0.934	

Table 5. Correlation coefficients between gelatinization temperatures and swelling power of cassava starch and that with dietary oil treatments.



Samples	Starch (%)	Protein (%)	Lipid (%)	Ash (%)
СА	80.8 ± 0.5	2.23 ± 0.07	0.51 ± 0.01	2.47 ± 0.05
CA+HMT*	80.8 ± 0.5	2.35 ± 0.08	0.52 ± 0.00	2.43 ± 0.03
CA+10%DDGS+HMT*	75.3 ± 0.5	4.62 ± 0.54	1.50 ± 0.16	2.71 ± 0.00
CA+20%DDGS+HMT*	70.0 ± 0.3	7.94 ± 0.45	2.67 ± 0.08	2.83 ± 0.03
CA+30%DDGS+HMT*	64.2 ± 0.4	9.07 ± 0.41	3.79 ± 0.01	$2.96{\pm}~0.06$
Finely-ground Maize (B-16)	75.5 ± 0.6	8.07 ± 0.06	3.97 ± 0.03	1.56 ± 0.02

Table 6. Proximate analyses of cassava flour, cassava-DDGS blend samples, and finelyground maize (B-16) samples

Percentage (%) is on flour dry basis

Heat moisture treatment (HMT) was conducted with 12.8- 13.2% initial moisture content at 100°C temperature for 1 h











Figure 2. Starch digestive rate of cassava flour (CA), CA+HMT, CA +6% PO+ HMT, CA +6% SO+ HMT, and CA+6%CO +HMT comparing with finely-ground and coarsely-ground maize (B-16) samples. The percentage of hydrolysis is calculated on the basis of the amount of glucose produced over the starch content at dry weight basis.

* Heat moisture treatment (HMT) was conducted with 11.16-11.38% initial moisture content at 100°C temperature for 1 h





Figure 3. Starch digestive rate of isolated cassava starch (CAS), CAS+HMT, CAS +6% PO+ HMT, CAS +6%SO+ HMT, and CAS+6%CO +HMT comparing with isolated maize starch (B-16) sample. The percentage of hydrolysis is calculated on the basis of the amount of glucose produced over the starch content on dry weight basis.

Heat moisture treatment (HMT) was conducted with 6.21- 6.71% initial moisture content at 100°C temperature for 1 h





Figure 4. Light micrograph (400X) of **A**) CAS, **B**) CAS + HMT* **C**) CAS + 6%PO + HMT*, **D**) CAS + 6%SO + HMT*, **E**) CAS+ 6%CO + HMT*, with nile red dye staining for 24 h. Arrow indicates isolated cassava starch (CAS) interacted with dietary oil, stained with nile red dye

Heat moisture treatment (HMT) was conducted with 6.21- 6.71% initial moisture content at 100° C temperature for 1 h







*Heat moisture treatment (HMT) was conducted with 12.8- 13.2% initial moisture content at 100°C temperature for 1 h





Figure 6. Starch digestive rate of cassava samples with 30% (w/w) DDGS substitution followed by HMT with different sample initial moisture content (IMC). The percentage of hydrolysis is calculated on the basis of the amount of glucose produced over the starch content on dry weight basis.

*Heat moisture treatment (HMT) was conducted at 100°C temperature for 1 h





Figure 7. Starch digestive rate of cassava samples with 30% DDGS substitution (IMC= 11.9-12.4%) followed by HMT at different temperature (80° C, 100° C, 120° C). The percentage of hydrolysis is calculated on the basis of the amount of glucose produced over the starch content on dry weight basis.





Figure 8. Starch digestive rate of cassava flour samples with 5%, 10%, 15% and 30% (w/w) SBM substitution followed by HMT. The percentage of hydrolysis is calculated on the basis of the amount of glucose produced over the starch content on dry weight basis.

*Heat moisture treatment (HMT) was conducted at 12.9-13.5% initial moisture content at 100°C temperature for 1 h





Figure 9. Starch digestive rate of cassava flour samples with 5%, 10%, and 15% (w/w) SBM substitution and 3% (v/w of cassava flour) corn oil addition followed by HMT. The percentage of hydrolysis is calculated on the basis of the amount of glucose produced over the starch content on dry weight basis.

*Heat moisture treatment (HMT) was conducted at 12.3-12.6% initial moisture content at 100°C temperature for 1 h





Figure 10. Starch digestive rate of cassava flour samples with 15% (w/w) SBM substitution and 1.5%, 3% and 6% (v/w of cassava flour corn oil addition followed by HMT. The percentage of hydrolysis is calculated on the basis of the amount of glucose produced over the starch content on dry weight basis.

*Heat moisture treatment (HMT) was conducted at 12.9-13.1% initial moisture content at 100°C temperature for 1 h





Figure 11. Starch digestive rate of cassava flour samples with 15% (w/w) SBM substitution and 3% (v/w of cassava flour) corn oil addition followed by HMT with different sample initial moisture content (IMC). The percentage of hydrolysis is calculated on the basis of the amount of glucose produced over the starch content on dry weight basis.

*Heat moisture treatment (HMT) was conducted at 100°C temperature for 1 h



GENERAL CONCLUSION

Grain drying temperature affected the starch properties of the dried products. Drying corn kernels with high moisture content (32.5%, db) at high temperatures (80 and 120/80°C) partially gelatinized their starch and increased the susceptibility to enzymatic hydrolysis. The partial-gelatinization of starch was evidenced by the loss of birefringence (Maltese-cross), the increase in starch onset-gelatinization temperature, and the decrease in gelatinization enthalpy-changes of the samples dried at higher temperatures. Storage at 37°C and 93%RH for 3 and 6 days decreased the starch digestibility of the samples. Samples dried at a higher temperature showed earlier sign of mold growth after storage than that dried at a lower temperature.

Storage of dried-corn kernels at 27°C and 85-90% for up to 6 months altered the structures and functions of their starch. Starch hydrolysis rate and peak viscosity of the ground corn samples decreased after storage. The gelatinization temperature, pasting temperature, and percentage crystallinity increased but the gelatinization enthalpy-changes and peak viscosity of the isolated starches decreased after storage of corn. Our results suggested that enzymatic hydrolysis of starch during storage were responsible to the changes in structures and functions of starch. The enzymatic hydrolysis of starch after storage was evidenced from the increases in the numbers of damaged starch granules and starch granules with pinholes and the decreases in the molecular weight of starch and percentage long-branch chains of amylopectin. The enzymatic hydrolysis of starch after storage of dried corn-kernels was more pronounced in the sun-dried samples than machine-dried samples, suggesting less



126

amylase activities remaining in the corn samples after machine-drying at 80°C than sundrying at 35°C.

New methods to improve the feed quality of cassava flour were developed by introducing commonly used ingredients, such as dietary oils, Distillers Dry Grain with Soluble (DDGS), or defatted soybean-meal (SBM), into the cassava flour and followed by a heat-moisture treatment (HMT). HMT slightly reduced the starch digestive rate of the cassava flour. Addition of dietary oils increased the particle size distribution of the cassava flour samples. Addition of dietary oils (6%, v/w) followed by HMT at 100°C for 1 h substantially reduced the starch digestive rate of the cassava flour. Dietary oils with greater degree of unsaturation showed greater impact on reducing the starch digestive rate of cassava flour. DDGS at 30% of the blends reduced the starch digestive rate of the cassava flour closer to the finely-ground corn sample. DDGS inclusion increased the lipids and protein content of the cassava flour. SBM substitution showed less impact on reducing the starch digestive rate of cassava flour than DDGS at an equivalent protein levels. The results suggested that lipids were the major compound responsible for reducing the starch digestive rate of cassava flour. Increases in the initial moisture content (IMC) of the cassava flour-blends from 18.1-20.7% to 26.1-28.0% prior to HMT at 100°C increased the starch digestive rate of the cassava flour, suggesting partial-gelatinization of starch.



APPENDIX-ENZYME HYDROLYSIS PATTERN OF FOUR α -AMYLASES

Stephen Setiawan and Jay-lin Jane

Department of Food Science and Human Nutrition, Iowa State University, Ames, IA 50011

INTRODUCTION

Alpha-amylase (EC.3.2.1.1) is an enzyme that catalyzes the hydrolysis of α -1, 4 glycosidic linkages of starch, producing primarily maltose, maltotriose and maltotetraose (1). Alpha-amylase is found in the digestive tract of most vertebrate. Alpha-amylase enzyme works together with glucoamylase, a brush border enzyme, to convert the highly structured starch into glucose for absorption in small intestine. Alpha-amylase is also produced by microorganisms with unique characteristics and reaction patterns. The objective of this study was to obtain information needed to choose the appropriate α -amylase for future *in-vitro* animal feed studies. In this study we used four commercially available α -amylases (PPA, Thermamyl LC, Thermamyl SC, and D45)

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Materials

Normal maize starch was purchased from Cargill Incorporated (Minneapolis, MN). Thermamyl[@] LC (LC) and Thermamyl[@] SC (SC) are the products of Novozymes (Bagsvaerd, Denmark). Amylase-D45 (D45) was a gift from Diversa Corp (San Diego,



CA). These three alpha-amylases are thermostable. Porcine Pancreatic α -Amylase (PPA) was purchased from Sigma Aldrich Corporation (St.Louis, MO).

Amylase Assay

Amylase assay method was used to standardize the amount of enzyme units per gram of starch used in this study (2). One *Unit* is defined as the amount of enzyme required to release reducing sugar equivalent to 1 micromoles of maltose in 1 min at 40°C. One ml of enzyme solution was added to 1 ml of soluble starch substrate (10g/ L), and the mixture was incubated for three minutes at 40°C. Color reagent used in this assay was made by dissolving 100 mg of 3, 5-dinitrosalycylic acid in 20 ml of 2N sodium hydroxide and 50 ml of water containing 30 g of sodium-potassium tartrate. Two ml of color-reagent was added to stop the enzyme reaction and the mixture was heated for five minutes in a boiling water bath. The mixture was diluted and measured using a spectrophotometer at 470 nm. The determination of units of activity for each enzyme was measured by plotting the absorbance on the maltose standard curve as a reference

Starch digestibility

Normal corn starch was suspended (1% w/v) in a 0.02 M phosphate buffer with 20 ppm of Ca⁺⁺. Each buffer was adjusted to the optimum pH of each enzyme (pH 5.6 for Termamyl LC and SC, pH 6.0 for D45, and pH 6.9 for PPA). The starch suspension was then hydrolyzed with 200 units/g of starch of each enzyme at 40°C for 0, 1, 2, 4, 8, 24, 48 and 72 hour. The enzyme reaction was stopped by adding ethanol to denature the enzyme. The reducing sugar content of the hydrolysates was determined using the Somogyi-Nelson



method .Phenol-sulfuric method (*3*) was used to determine the total carbohydrate produced after 24, 48 and 72 hours.

Scanning Electron Microscopy (SEM)

Residues of starch hydrolysis were repeatedly washed with ethanol and dried at 37°C overnight. The morphology of the starch residues was analyzed by scanning electron microscopy following the method of Jane et al (*4*). Starch residues were re-suspended in absolute methanol, and a drop of the suspension was placed on silver tape, sticky side down, attached to a brass disk and sputter coated with gold/palladium (60/40). The mounted specimens were captured at a magnification of 1500 x using a scanning electron microscope (JEOL model, JSM-5800LV Tokyo, Japan).

Thin Layer Chromatography (TLC)

The products of amylase hydrolysis of starch were analyzed using thin layer chromatography (5). Each sample was spotted onto a 20 X 20 cm Whatman K5 TLC plate (Fisher Scientific, Chicago, IL), and the plate was irrigated 2 times with a solvent mixture of acetonitrile: ethyl acetate: 1-propanol: water (85: 20: 50: 50, by volume). The carbohydrates on the TLC plate were detected by dipping the dried plate into a methanol solution containing N-(1-naphthyl) ethylenediamine (0.3% w/v) and sulfuric acid (5% v/v), and followed by heating at 120°C for 15 min.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION



Enzyme unit in 1 ml of solution of each α -amylase is shown in **Table 1**. SC showed the highest α -amylase activity per one ml of enzyme solution, followed by D45, LC and PPA. From the result, each enzyme was diluted at different concentrations to produce the same units of activity used for starch hydrolysis analysis. It should be noticed that the result represents each alpha-amylase activity at 40°C. Temperature of 40°C was used in this study because it is similar to the internal body temperature of most warm-blooded vertebrate, including poultry. Enzyme hydrolysis of starch using PPA, SC, LC, and D45 measured as percentages of reducing sugar are shown in **Figure 1**. PPA and SC produced greater amount of reducing sugar (39.70 % and 39.03 % after 72h hydrolysis, respectively) than LC and D45 (23.88 % and 27.63 %, respectively) (Figure 1). The percentages of starch hydrolysis based on glucose production are shown in **Table 2**. From the result, SC, PPA, and D45 close to completely hydrolyzed the starch after 24 h hydrolysis (92.4 %, 93.1 %, and 88.8 %, respectively), whereas LC hydrolyzed the starch at lesser extent (64.5%). The difference in starch hydrolysis pattern between that based on reducing sugar (Figure 1) and that on glucose production (**Table 2**) indicated the size of maltooligosaccharides produced by each of the α -amylase. From Figure 1 and Table 2, LC and D45 α -amylase produced longer maltodextrins, whereas SC and PPA produced shorter maltodextins.

The scanning electron micrographs of hydrolyzed starch residues of each enzyme are shown in **Figure 2**. The hydrolyzed residues of each enzyme were obtained after 20% starch hydrolysis based on the amount of reducing sugars that were produced. From the micrographs, PPA showed high capability to attack and to hydrolyze every starch granule. SC, LC, and D45 showed that they capable to attack some specific starch granules while leaving the other starch granule intact. From **Figure 2B**, Starch residues hydrolyzed by PPA



showed greater number of pinholes on the surface than that hydrolyzed by LC, SC, and D45. Maltooligosaccharides produced in the hydrolysates are shown in **Figure 3** and **Figure 4**. LC produced mainly G3, G4, and G5 through the hydrolysis periods. SC hydrolyzed native starch to produce hydrolysates with a large proportion of G5 residues at the initial stage of hydrolysis (24 h). SC, however, further hydrolyzed this maltooligosaccharides residues (G5) into G2 and G3 on the later stage of hydrolysis (72h) (**Figure 4**). PPA consistently produced most of its maltooligosaccharides residues as G2 and G3 through the hydrolysis periods. D45 showed significant increases in the smaller maltooligosaccarides residues (G2 and G3) after 48 h. Similar to SC, D45 initially hydrolyzed starch to produce larger maltooligosaccarides residues after 48 h hydrolysis.

CONCLUSION

Each α -amylase has its own characteristics that fit for a specific purpose. Among these enzymes, we decided to use PPA for our future *in-vitro* feed studies. PPA hydrolyzed all the available starch granules in a non-specific manner and produces more uniform maltooligosaccarides residues (G2 and G3) throughout the hydrolysis period in comparison with other α -amylase enzymes. These characteristics of PPA are appropriate for a good control and accuracy needed for *in-vitro* feed studies.



LITERATURE CITED

- Atichokudomchai, N., Jane, J., Hazlewood, G. (2006). Reaction pattern of a novel thermostable α-amylase. *Carbohydrate Polymer* 64:582-588.
- Jamieson, A., Pruitt, K., Caldwell, R., (1968). An improved amylase Assay. *Journal of Dental Research* 45:483-484.
- Dubois, M., Gilles, K. A., Hamilton, J. K., Rebers, P. A., Smith, F. (1956). Colorimetric method for determination of sugars and related substances. *Analytical. Chemistry* 28: 350-356.
- 4. Jane, J., Kasemsuwan, T., Leas, S., Zobel, H., Robyt, J. F. (1994). Anthology of starch granule morphology by scanning electron microscopy. *Starch/Staerke* 46:121-129.
- Robyt, J. F., Mukerjea, R. (1994). Separation and quantitative determination of nanogram quantities of maltodextrins and isomaltodextrins by thin layer chromatography. *Carbohydrate Research* 251:187–202.



Enzyme	Units / ml of enzyme
Thermamyl LC	920.1 ± 62.4
Thermamyl SC	3059.9 ± 50.4
PPA	160.5 ± 32.5
D45	1740.2 ± 82.1

Table 1. Enzyme units in 1 ml of solution for each α -amylase



Table 2. Percentage of starch hydrolysis measured on the basis of glucose produced on dry starch basis.

Percentage of Hydrolysis (%)					
Time	Thermamyl LC	Thermamyl SC	PPA	D45	
24 h	64.5 ± 0.6	92.39 ± 0.3	93.13 ± 1.1	88.8 ± 0.0	
48 h	78.8 ± 0.7	95.00 ± 0.7	95.5 ± 3.7	97.4 ± 1.5	
72 h	92.8 ± 3.1	96.32 ± 1.9	95.7 ± 1.1	99.6 ± 1.7	





Figure 1. Starch hydrolysis pattern of normal-maize starch using four different α -amylases (PPA, Thermamyl SC, Thermamyl LC, and D45) measured as percentage of reducing sugar produced over starch content on dry basis.





Figure 2. Scanning electron micrograph of native maize starch (A) and that hydrolyzed with PPA (B), Thermamyl LC (B), Thermamyl SC (C), and D45 (D) after 20% starch had been hydrolyzed (On the basis of reducing sugar produced)





Figure 3. TLC chromatograph of normal maize starch hydrolysates produced by Thermamyl LC and Thermamyl SC hydrolysis at different time interval (24 h, 48 h, and 72h hydrolysis)




Figure 4. TLC chromatograph of normal maize starch hydrolysates produced by PPA and D45 hydrolysis at different time interval (24 h, 48 h, and 72h hydrolysis)



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge the following people for their significant contributions:

- Dr. Jay-lin Jane, for her excellent mentorship, suggestions, creative ideas, and encouragement.
- My POS committees, Dr. Lawrence Johnson, Dr. Michael Blanco, and Dr. Michael Spurlock, for their advices.
- Charoen Phokpand Indonesia, for the financial support.
- Dr. Jovin Hasjim for his guidance and research ideas.
- Dr. John Darmawan for excellent inspiration.
- My family for their endless support and confidence.
- My colleagues, Jelena Medic, Dr. Hongxin Jiang, Yongfeng Ai, Dr. Jungtae Park, Dr. Rungtiwa Wongsagunsop, Dr. Huang Qiang, Dr. Shuangkui Du, Dr. Byoungcheol Min, and Dr. Qingjie Sun, for their assistance and friendship.
- My dearest friend in Indonesia, Jessica Indra, for all the encouragement and companionship.
- My friends in Ames, Stanley Harjadi, Edo Natasha, Serafim Teknowijoyo, Andre Lokasari, Cynthia Sari, and Victoria Harjadi, for all the great time and encouragement.

